
1

Agenda
Contact Officer: Nicola Meurer, Democratic Services Officer

Tel: 01235 422523

E-mail: nicola.meurer@southandvale.gov.uk

Date: 15 November 2016

Website: http://www.southoxon.gov.uk

A MEETING OF THE

Planning Committee
WILL BE HELD ON WEDNESDAY 23 NOVEMBER 2016 AT 6.00 PM

DIDCOT CIVIC HALL, BRITWELL ROAD, DIDCOT, OX11 7JN

Members of the Committee:
Felix Bloomfield (Chairman)
Joan Bland
Margaret Davies
Anthony Dearlove
Jeannette Matelot

Toby Newman (Vice-
Chairman)
David Nimmo-Smith
Richard Pullen

David Turner
Margaret Turner
Ian White

Substitutes
Charles Bailey
Stefan Gawrysiak
Paul Harrison

Stephen Harrod
Lorraine Hillier
Elaine Hornsby

Imran Lokhon
Sue Lawson

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  These include 
large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For this or any other special 
requirements (such as access facilities) please contact the officer named on this 
agenda.  Please give as much notice as possible before the meeting.

MARGARET REED

Head of Legal and Democratic Services

Public Document Pack



2

1 Apologies  

2 Declarations of disclosable pecuniary interest  

To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests, and other 
declarations, in respect of items on the agenda for this meeting.  

3 Minutes of the previous meeting  (Pages 5 - 36)

To adopt and sign as a correct record the minutes of the committee meetings held 
on 28 September, 19 October and 2 November 2016. 

4 Urgent items  

5 Applications deferred or withdrawn  

6 Proposals for site visit reports  

Development control applications and tree preservation orders

Planning applications - background papers and additional 
information

All the background papers with the exception of those papers marked 
exempt/confidential (eg those held in enforcement files) used in the reports in this 
agenda are held in the application file (working file) referenced by the application 
number. 

Any additional information received following the publication of this agenda will be 
reported and summarised at the meeting.

Summary index of applications

Site Address Proposal Application No Page 
No.

7 Hawkhill Place, 
Stanton St John  

Demolition of the existing two-storey 
dwelling and integrated garages and 
the erection of a new two storey 
dwelling.

P16/S1850/FUL 37 - 52

8 1 Sandy Lane, 
Cholsey  

Proposed new detached dwelling. P16/S2045/FUL 53 - 68



3

9 Land to the rear 
of 14 and 16 
High Street, 
Watlington  

Erection of a two storey three-
bedroom dwelling following the 
demolition of the existing brick walls 
and timber fencing within the site.

P16/S2638/FUL 69 - 78

10 Longwood, 
Maidensgrove  

Proposed demolition of existing 
dwelling house and associated 
structures and the erection of three 
detached dwellings and detached 
garages with separate access 
arrangements.

P16/S1140/FUL 79 - 94

11 Daisy's at the 
Dog, Peppard 
Common  

To convert the existing coffee shop 
into a new dwelling.  

P16/S2923/FUL 95 - 108

12 2 Baskerville 
Road, Sonning 
Common  

Erection of detached two-storey 4-
bedroom dwelling with integral garage 
and formation of vehicular access.

P16/S2646/FUL 109 - 
120



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Minutes
OF A MEETING OF THE

Planning Committee

HELD AT 6.00 PM ON WEDNESDAY 28 SEPTEMBER 2016

DIDCOT CIVIC HALL, BRITWELL ROAD, DIDCOT, OX11 7JN

Present:

Felix Bloomfield (Chairman)

Margaret Davies, Anthony Dearlove, Jeannette Matelot, Toby Newman, David 
Nimmo-Smith, Richard Pullen and David Turner.

Apologies:

Joan Bland, Margaret Turner and Ian White tendered apologies. 

Officers:

Victoria Butterworth, Katherine Canavan, Edward Church, Adrian Duffield, Kim 
Gould, Susan Harbour, Simon Kitson, Paul Lucas, Tom Wyatt.

85 Declarations of disclosable pecuniary interest 

None.

86 Urgent items 

There were no urgent items.

87 Applications deferred or withdrawn 

None.

88 Proposals for site visit reports 

None.

89 P16/S2143/FUL - 18 Courtiers Green, Clifton Hampden 

The committee considered the report on application P16/S2143/FUL for the erection 
of a two bedroom, self-contained dwellinghouse adjoining 18 Courtiers Green, Clifton 
Hampden.

Public Document Pack

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



2

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history, 
were detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this 
meeting.

Christopher Neil, from parish council, objected to the application. His points included 
the following:
 He believed that the application was not correct. The application was not a four 

bed house but a 3 bed.
 The development would have an unfair affect on the neighbours, as it is unfair to 

them. 
 It is overdevelopment and affects the terracing of the housing.

Lyliane Doumeche, a neighbour, objected to the application. Her concerns included 
the following:
 Failures on behalf of the developer to accurately describe his plans.
 Negative impact on immediate neighbours.

Gareth Betram, the applicant’s agent, spoke in favour of the application. His points 
included the following:
 The application was compliant with planning policies.
 It was sustainable development.
 It was consistent with other developments on the same street.

The committee asked questions of clarification to the agent.

Sue Lawson, the local member, spoke in objection.
 She felt that the applicant had “run roughshod” over the planning process.

The committee asked questions of clarification to the officers.

It was proposed and seconded to support the officer’s recommendation to grant 
planning permission, subject to conditions.

The committee debated the proposal.
 Concern was expressed about the issues raised by the objectors about the 

manner in which this application had come to planning committee.
 It was out of keeping with the street scene as it would be the only terrace on the 

street.
 There were no significant planning reasons to refuse.

Summation.
 To support the officer’s recommendation, and to retain the conditions, and to add 

a further condition restricting permitted development rights to any change to a 
House in Multiple Occupation.

 
On being put to the vote, this motion was carried.

RESOLVED 

To grant planning permission, subject to the following conditions:
1. In accordance with plans.
2. Parking spaces as indicated on plan to be useable prior to occupation of the 

Page 6



3

approved dwelling, and sustainable drainage scheme compliant.
3. Materials to match existing, or otherwise agreed in writing.
4. No drainage of surface water onto the highway.
5. Removal of permitted development rights of both no. 18 and 18a – Class A 

(enlargement / alteration),Class B (Roof alterations / dormer windows), Class D 
(Porch), Class E (Outbuildings)

90 P16/S02040/FUL - Durham Leys Farm, The Green, Marsh 
Baldon 

Councillor Stephen Harrod joined the meeting.

The committee considered the report on application P16/S2040/FUL for the 
demolition of buildings and the erection of a new dwelling with outbuilding and 
associated works and landscaping at Durham Leys Farm.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history, 
were detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this 
meeting.

Henry Venners, the applicant’s agent, spoke in favour of the application.

Sue Lawson, the local ward member, spoke to the application. Her points included 
the following:
 This is contrary to the emerging neighbourhood plan, which is 3 to 4 months 

prior to referendum and is therefore a premature application.
 It is not what the village needs.

The committee asked questions of clarification to the officers.

It was proposed and seconded to support the officer’s recommendation to grant 
planning permission, subject to conditions.

The committee debated the proposal.

Summation.
 Waived.

On being put to the vote this motion was carried.

RESOLVED

To grant planning permission subject to the following conditions:
 Commencement three years - full planning permission.
 Approved plans. 
 Sample materials required (walls and roof).
 Withdrawal of permitted development (Part 1 Class A) - no extensions etc.
 Withdrawal of permitted development (Part 1 Class E) - no buildings etc.
 Landscaping scheme (trees and shrubs only).
 Tree protection (detailed).
 Details of boundary treatment to be submitted.

Page 7



4

91 P15/S0941/FUL - Land adjacent to St Leonard's Church, 
Prospect Place, Watlington 

The committee considered the report on application P15/S0941/FUL for the 
demolition of St Leonard's Church Hall, Prospect Place, Watlington and for the 
relocation of the existing car park and erection of two dwellings (one four bedroom 
rectory and one five bedroom market unit), and double garages, construction of 
access (car park and dwellings repositioned and formation of undeveloped buffer 
zone as shown on amended plans received 25 August 2015 and diverted footpath 
route shown on amended block plan received 2 February 2016).

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history, 
were detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this 
meeting.

It was clarified that the confidential document that had been circulated had been 
received and read by all members. Members were advised not to discuss the 
confidential aspects of the document, which were provided as background 
information.

Tom Bindoff, from Watlington Parish Council spoke in objection to the application. His 
objections included the following:
 Loss of major part of green space which had been open to the public for a 

considerable time.
 Site is sensitive.
 Reduction of available car parking at the church.
 Parish Council have not seen the business case.

Tim Horton spoke in objection to the application.  His points included the following:
  Inappropriate by scale and design.
 Loss of public amenity.
 Issue with car parking.

The committee asked questions of clarification to the speaker.

Rev’d Christopher Evans, Mr John Barton, the church warden, and Mr Jeremy Flawn, 
the agent, spoke in favour of the application. They included the following:
 The application represented less than substantial harm to heritage assets.
 Balance with public benefits.
 Removal of unsightly church hall, more discreet parking.
 Sale of private dwelling, funds will be restricted by covenant to maintain and 

repair church.
 Increase usage and membership of the church.
 £1687 per week running costs for church needs to increase income.
 Improved location of the rectory.
 Increased facilities in the church.

The committee asked questions of clarification to the panel of speakers.

  The church hall has been condemned as structurally unsound. 
  Community groups were leaving the church hall as it was dilapidated. 

Page 8



5

 Vision for the church to be a prestige venue as well as a community venue. 
Church has had to make a choice.

 When the funds are released the church will be able to build the extension for 
which it has planning permission.

 The church has only had a limited amount of funding support from parish council 
of £1000 for the church hall and insufficient grants offered by SODC with 
unsuitable conditions and therefore were not eligible to keep the monies.

 The applicant has previously investigated grant funding opportunities from 
external bodies but these came with conditions which could not be fulfilled.

It was proposed and seconded to refuse planning permission for the following 
reasons:
 To preserve or enhance character of the conservation area, and historic building.

The committee debated the proposal:
 It is a matter of balance and compromise.
 The green space which would be lost is private, not public, land.
 There are other facilities available in Watlington.
 No business plan put forward from the church on long term financial 

sustainability. 

Summation.
 Any financial gain would be short term, the loss of visual amenity and heritage 

asset would be long term. There appeared to be no business plan.

On being put to the vote, this motion was carried.

RESOLVED

To refuse planning permission in order to preserve the character of the 
conservation area and the historic building.

92 P16/S2207/FUL - Land at Elm Tree Farm, Moreton 

Jeanette Matelot stepped down from the committee for this item as she was one of 
the ward members.

The committee considered the report on application P16/S1470/FUL for the erection 
of two 5-bedroom dwellings and two-bay carports and formation of two individual 
accesses (reduction in width and eaves height of Plot 1, lowering of ridge height of 
both dwellings, reduction in size of both carports, carport to Plot 1 moved away from 
Harvest barn boundary and retention of front boundary hedging either side of 
accesses as shown on amended plans received 18 July 2016 and additional services 
plan received 8 September 2016); on land at Elm Tree Farm, Moreton.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history, 
were detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this 
meeting.

Graham Hunt, the town clerk, spoke on behalf of Thame Town Council, objecting to 
the application; his points included the following:
 The town council believed that the proposed application was in contravention of 

some of the district council’s policies, either in practice or in principle.
Page 9



6

 It was in conflict with Thame’s adopted neighbourhood plan, which includes the 
parish of Moreton and that insufficient weight has been given to the National 
Planning Policy Framework’s statement on the weight which should be given to 
neighbourhood plans.

The committee asked questions of clarification of the speaker about the detail of the 
neighbourhood plan as it applies to Moreton

Steven Kerry, the applicant’s agent, spoke on behalf of the application.
 He believed that it was in keeping with the local area and is policy compliant and 

compliant with the neighbourhood plan.

Jeanette Matelot, one of the ward councillors, spoke in objection to the application. 
 Large houses are not relevant to the needs for the housing stock in Moreton. 

They need smaller, affordable units.

It was proposed and seconded to support the officer’s recommendation to grant 
planning permission, subject to conditions.

The committee debated the proposal.
 Concerns were raised about the possible contravention of the neighbourhood 

plan.

Summation.
 The application was a good design, and not in contravention of the 

neighbourhood plan.

On being put to the vote, this motion was carried.

RESOLVED

To grant planning permission, subject to the following conditions:
1. Commencement three years - full planning permission.
2. Planning condition listing the approved drawings.
3. Details of levels prior to commencement.
4. Schedule of materials required prior to commencement.
5. Withdrawal of permitted development rights (extensions and outbuildings).
6. New vehicular access implementation in accordance with approved details.
7. Vision splay details prior to commencement.
8. No surface water drainage to highway.
9. Parking and manoeuvring areas retained as on plan.
10. Vehicular access gates to be set back a minimum of 5 metres from highway.
11. Construction traffic management plan prior to commencement.
12. Details of landscaping (including hardsurfacing and boundary treatment) prior to 

commencement.
13. No garage conversion into accommodation.
14. Details of tree protection (general) prior to commencement.
15. Details of surface water drainage works prior to occupation.

93 P16/S0806/FUL - The Wychens, 70 Queen's Road, Thame 

Jeanette Matelot stepped down from the committee for this item as she was one of 
the ward members.

Page 10



7

The committee considered the report on application P16/S0806/FUL for the 
demolition of the existing bungalow and the construction of a new 4 bedroom house 
(as amended by plans received 29 April 2016 reducing ridge height of roof, changing 
north eastern elevation gable to hipped roof, removing canopy over back door, and 
revising red line of application site and block plan to correctly show relationship of the 
property to boundaries); at The Wychens, 70 Queen’s Road, Thame.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history, 
were detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this 
meeting.

Graham Hunt, the clerk of Thame Town Council, spoke objecting to the application. 
His points included the following:
 Development would be unneighbourly, too great in massing and bulk.

Alan Taynton, a local resident, objected to the application. His objections included the 
following:
 Development is too close to his property.
 It will affect light to the dining room, too close to the boundary.
 Would like the proposed building flipped to reduce the impact on the property.

Gloria Pedley, the applicant, spoke in favour of the application.
 The neighbour’s dining room is double aspect and so light will not be hugely 

affected.
 It is not viable to flip the design as will then not be able to reuse the foundations.

Jenaette Matelot, one of the ward members, spoke in objection to the application:
 The design should be flipped to be more neighbourly.

It was proposed and seconded to defer the application for a site visit. 

On being put to the vote, this motion was defeated.

It was proposed and seconded that the application be refused for the following 
reasons:
 Significant loss of amenity to the immediate neighbour, created by the increase in 

height so close to the boundary.
 The proposal was unneighbourly.

The committee debated the proposal.

Summation.
 Waived

On being put to the vote, this motion was carried.

RESOLVED

To refuse the application for planning permission for the following reasons:
 Significant loss of amenity to the immediate neighbour, created by the increase in 

height so close to the boundary.
 Unneighbourliness.

Page 11



8

94 P16/S2207/FUL - 77 St Marks Road, Henley-on-Thames 

Councillor Lorraine Hillier stepped down from the committee for this item as she was 
one of the ward members.

The committee considered the report on application P16/S2207/FUL  for the 
proposed demolition of existing dwellinghouse and the erection of a pair off semi- 
detached dwellings with associated parking and private amenity space provision. 
Amendments to existing access and creation of new access (as amended by revised 
plans received 11th August 2016, reducing the overall height and depth of the 
proposed dwellings) at 77 St Marks Road, Henley-on-Thames.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history, 
were detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this 
meeting.

Mark Gloyens, a neighbour, spoke objecting to the application, his points included the 
following:
 The application is out of keeping with the character of the street and has a 

negative impact on the neighbours.
 It will have a detrimental impact on the character of the street.

The committee asked questions of clarification to the objector

Councillor Lorraine Hillier, one of the local members, spoke in objection to the 
application, on the following points:
 Over development.
 Out of keeping with the immediate street scene.
 Significant loss of light.
 High degree of visibility.

It was proposed and seconded to refuse this application on the following grounds:
 Oppressive and overbearing.
 Over development.
 Loss of amenities to neighbours.
 Affecting character of the area.

The committee debated the proposal.

Summation
 Waived

On being put to the vote, this proposal was defeated.

It was proposed and seconded to accept the officer’s recommendation and to grant 
planning permission, subject to conditions.

The committee debated this proposal.

Summation
 Waived.

Page 12



9

On being put to the vote, this motion was carried.

RESOLVED

To grant planning permission, subject to the following conditions:
1. Commencement within three years of the date of this permission.
2. The development must be implemented in accordance with the approved plans. 
3. A schedule of materials for all external finshes shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the local authority prior to commencement of development.
4. Details of proposed floor and ground levels shall be submitted to and approved in 

writing by the local planning authority prior to commencement of development.
5. Prior to occupation of the development hereby permitted the proposed means of 

access onto St Marks Road, is to be formed and laid out and constructed strictly 
in accordance with the local highway authority’s specifications and all ancillary 
works specified shall be undertaken.

6. The existing means of access onto St Marks Road shall be improved and laid out 
and constructed strictly in accordance with the local highway authority’s 
specifications and all ancillary works specified shall be undertaken.

7. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved car parking 
spaces shall be provided within the curtilage of the site, in accordance with the 
approved site plan. The car parking spaces shall be retained unobstructed except 
for the parking of motor vehicles at all times

8. The surfacing of the car parking area hereby approved shall be of permeable 
construction, or make provision for the direction of surface water run-off to a 
permeable or porous area within the curtilage of the site. No surface water shall 
be discharged onto the adjoing highway.

9. Details of all tree protection measures shall be submitted to, and approved in 
writing by, the local authority prior to the commencement of the development. 

10. A contaminated land statement questionnaire is to be provided prior to the 
commencement of any works on site. 

11. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015, no extensions, roof extensions or 
outbuildings, as defined under Part 2, Classes A, B or E of the Order, shall be 
erected within the curtilage of either dwellinghouse hereby approved without 
planning permission from the local planning authority.

12. All side-facing upper storey windows to the north-east (side) and south-west 
(side) elevations of the dwellings hereby approved shall be obscure glazed and 
fixed shut, where below 1.7m from the finished floor level, prior to first 
occupation. The windows shall be retained as such thereafter. 

95 P16/S2237/FUL - Bell Street Baguettes, 73B Bell Street, 
Henley-on-Thames 

Councillor Lorraine Hillier stepped down from the committee for this item as she was 
one of the ward members.

The committee considered the report on application P16/S2237/FUL for a change of 
use from A5 (hot food takeaway) to C3 (residential).

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history, 
were detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this 
meeting.

Page 13



10

Councillor Hillier, one of the ward members, spoke objecting to the application:
 There was a need for small units to be retained in the town for small businesses 

away from the town centre.

It was proposed and seconded to support the officers’ recommendation and delegate 
the approval of planning permission to the head of planning.

The committee debated the proposal.

Summation.
 Waived.

On being put to the vote, this motion was carried.

RESOLVED

To delegate approval to the head of planning to grant of planning permission, 
subject to the prior completion of a unilateral undertaking with Oxfordshire 
County Council to secure £2000 to amend the traffic regulation order so that the 
development shall be excluded from eligibility for parking permits, and the 
following condition:

1. Commencement of development within three years. 

96 P16/S2084/LB - 11 High Street, Watlington 

The committee considered the report on application P16/S2084/LB for proposed 
internal alterations; [roposed new guttering and downpipes to front elevation, and 
proposed new chimney flashing at 11 High Street, Watlington].

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history, 
were detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this 
meeting.

This application was before the committee because the applicant is a councillor of 
South Oxfordshire District Council.

Proposed and seconded to go with the officer’s recommendation for approval.

The committee debated the proposal.

Summation.
 Waived.

On being put to the vote, this motion was carried.

RESOLVED

To grant listed building consent, subject to the following conditions:
1. Commencement of works within three years.
2. Works to be carried out in accordance with the approved plans.

Page 14

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S2084/LB


11

3. Materials to be used as indicated within the application. 
4. Extent and details of works to the chimney stack to be agreed prior to the 

commencement of these works. 

The meeting closed at 8.55 pm

Chairman Date

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Minutes
OF A MEETING OF THE

Planning Committee

HELD AT 6.00 PM ON WEDNESDAY 19 OCTOBER 2016

DIDCOT CIVIC HALL, BRITWELL ROAD, DIDCOT, OX11 7JN

Present:

Felix Bloomfield (Chairman)

Joan Bland, Margaret Davies, Anthony Dearlove, Paul Harrison (as substitute for 
Jeannette Matelot), Lorraine Hillier (as substitute for Margaret Turner), Toby 
Newman, David Nimmo-Smith, Richard Pullen, David Turner and Ian White

Apologies:

Jeannette Matelot and Margaret Turner tendered apologies. 

Officers:

Gabriella Brown, Paula Fox, Kim Gould, Simon Kitson, Marc Pullen, Amanda 
Rendell, Davina Sarac, Ron Schrieber, Cathie Scotting and Tom Wyatt

Also present: 

Stefan Gawrysiak, Sue Lawson and Imran Lokhon

111 Appointment of Vice-Chairman 

Toby Newman was nominated, seconded and appointed Vice-Chairman of the 
Committee for the remainder of the 2016/17 municipal year.

112 Declarations of disclosable pecuniary interest 

Councillor David Nimmo Smith declared that, in relation to application 
P15/S3385/FUL, he chaired the Henley Town Council planning committee when it 
considered this application and would therefore step down from the meeting for this 
item.

Councillor Lorraine Hillier declared that, in relation to application, P16/S2543/FUL, 
she was the owner of a business referred to in the report and would therefore step 
down from the meeting for this item.

Public Document Pack

Page 17

Agenda Item 3



2

113 Minutes of the previous meeting 

RESOLVED: to approve the minutes of the meeting held on 7 September 2016 as a 
correct record and agree that the Chairman sign these as such.

114 Urgent items 

None.

115 Applications deferred or withdrawn 

None.

116 Proposals for site visit reports 

None.

117 P15/S3385/FUL - The Workshop, Newtown Road, Henley-on-
Thames 

David Nimmo-Smith declared an interest in this item, stepped down from the 
committee and took no part in the debate or voting on this item.

Joan Bland and Lorraine Hillier, two of the local ward councillors, stepped down from 
the committee and took no part in the debate or voting on this item.   

The committee considered application P15/S3385/FUL for the demolition of the 
existing building and the erection of an 80 bed care home (C2 use) with parking, 
landscaping, retention of existing access to Newtown Road and creation of a new 
access from Mill Lane at The Workshop, Newtown Road, Henley-on-Thames.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history 
were detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this 
meeting.

Officer update: additional information was provided on the usage of the Mill Lane car 
park and the demand for casual swimming and swimming lessons at Henley Leisure 
Centre.

Julian Brookes and David Nimmo-Smith, representatives of Henley Town Council, 
spoke objecting to the application.  The town council’s concerns included:

 The loss of leisure facilities will have a detrimental effect on Henley residents;
 The designation of the building as an asset of community value demonstrates 

its importance to the locality;
 The site was not designated for residential development in the Neighbourhood 

Plan; and
 Staff would need to travel to and from the development by car at all hours so 

generating additional traffic and impacting on air quality.  

Deidre Wells, Michelle Thomas and Mark Binning, local residents, spoke objecting to 
the application. Their concerns included:

 There were already sufficient care homes in the area;
Page 18



3

 The proposal was contrary to the Neighbourhood Plan;
 Concerns about additional traffic, inadequate parking provision, access and 

pedestrian safety had not been addressed; and
 There was insufficient swimming pool provision elsewhere and some 

children’s swimming classes at Henley Leisure Centre were already full.

Douglas Bond, the applicant’s agent and Sheila Tunstall, a local resident, spoke in 
support of the application: 

 A number of new gyms had opened in the area and there was spare capacity;
 The care home would attract significantly fewer car journeys than the former 

fitness centre and there had been no objections from the highways authority;
 The care home would be built to a high standard and would free up 

accommodation as elderly local residents moved into the home; and 
 The designation of the building as an asset of community value did not place 

any restrictions on what the owner of the property can do if it remained in their 
ownership. 

Stefan Gawrysiak, one of the local ward members, spoke objecting to the application. 
His concerns included:

 The site was not designated for residential development in the Neighbourhood 
Plan;

 The site is in an area of business use so, if approved, more employment 
opportunities would need to be provided elsewhere;

 Mill Lane had insufficient capacity for the additional traffic that would be 
generated; 

 There was already sufficient care home provision in the area; and
 Approving the application would result in the loss of a community asset.

Lorraine Hillier, one of the local ward members, spoke objecting to the application. 
Her concerns included:

 The designation of the building as an asset of community value should carry 
material weight;

 There was a shortage of alternative swimming provision; and
 There was an abundance of care home provision and applications for 

additional accommodation;

Joan Bland, one of the local ward members, spoke objecting to the application. Her 
concerns included:

 There was no need for additional residential accommodation for the elderly in 
the area;

 The site was not designated for residential development in the Neighbourhood 
Plan; and

 The proposal would generate additional traffic.

In response to matters raised, the planning officers reported that:

 Although demand varied, swimming lessons at Henley Leisure Centre were 
operating at 80% capacity and casual swimming was below capacity;

 Even if another recreational facility were to be opened on the site, there was 
no guarantee that this would include a swimming pool;

 The proposal was not contrary to the Neighbourhood Plan as the plan was 
silent on the use of the site; and

Page 19



4

 The designation of the building as an asset of community value meant that the 
community would be given the opportunity to purchase the asset if it were put 
up for sale. 

A motion, moved and seconded, to approve the application was declared carried on 
being put to the vote.

RESOLVED: to delegate authority to grant planning permission for application 
P15/S3385/FUL to the head of planning subject to:

i) The prior completion of a Section 106 agreement with the County Council to 
secure contributions towards bus services and monitoring as detailed in the 
report.

ii) The following conditions:

1. Commencement three years - full planning permission.
2. Approved plans.
3. Restriction on use - class C2.
4. Slab and ridge levels to be agreed.
5. All sample materials to be agreed.
6. Sample wall panel of materials to be agreed
7. Landscaping (access/hard standings/fencing/walls) to be agreed.
8. Tree pits to be agreed.
9. Vision splay to be agreed.
10. Car parking details.
11. Travel plan.
12. Construction travel management plan to be agreed.
13. Surface water drainage works to be agreed.
14. Decontamination works to be verified by the Council.
15. External lighting to be agreed.
16. Air quality modelling and mitigation to be agreed.
17. Protection of trees during development.
18. Access details.
19. No surface water drainage to the highway.
20. Cycle parking details.
21. Bins storage details.
22. Noise controls.
23. Foul drainage works. 
24. Ecology mitigation.
25. Hours of construction

118 P14/S2860/O - Land to the West of Wallingford (Site B), 
Wallingford 

The committee considered application P14/S2860/O for a residential development 
comprising 555 dwellings, a one form entry primary school, associated landscaping 
and open spaces, construction of a new access onto the A4130 Calvin Thomas 
Way/Bosley Way, construction of a public transport link/emergency access onto 
Wantage Road and other supporting infrastructure works and facilities at land to the 
west of Wallingford (Site B), Wallingford.

Page 20



5

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history 
were detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this 
meeting.

Officer update: 
A further representation had been received from Oxfordshire County Council 
clarifying the requirements of the S106 agreement.

Three further letters had been received from neighbours raising the following issues 
and the need for mitigation:

 Noise – need for acoustic fencing
 Boundary treatments – security and landscaping
 CCTV
 Light pollution
 Detail of highway construction not shown on plans

Two further conditions would be added to the recommendation:
 Housing Mix to be as per Table 3 unless otherwise agreed in writing
 Any CCTV to be agreed in writing

The officer also provided clarification on some of the conditions as follows:
 Condition 4 – Time limit to include submission of first reserved matters within 6 

months of outline permission, implementation to begin within 1 year of 
approval of first reserved matters

 Condition 21- to include reference to sustainable design and secure by design
 Condition 27 – to include reference to boundary treatments
 Condition 34 – details of lighting to cover street lighting and residential

Adrian Lloyd, a representative of Wallingford Town Council, spoke about the 
application.  Whilst the town council had no objection in principle to the application, 
its concerns included:

 The height of the properties should be restricted to two storey;
 Further improvements to roundabouts were required;
 Drainage and sewerage arrangements may not be sufficient. Who will pay for 

the maintenance?; and
 The no access to Queens Avenue should be enforced by a condition and by a 

physical barrier.

Steve Capel-Davies, a representative of Brightwell-cum-Sotwell Parish Council, 
spoke objecting to the application.  The parish council’s concerns included:

 The height of the three storey development at the entrance to the site;
 The visual impact of the development;
 The speed limit along the by-pass should be reduced for safety reasons; and
 The increased light pollution.

John Gordon, representing Sustainable Wallingford, spoke objecting to the 
application. His concerns included:

 The need for a sustainable drainage system management plan to reduce the 
risk of flooding;

 Environmental sustainability was not being given sufficient priority; and
 There should have been wider consultation on the proposals.

Angus Michie, the applicant’s agent, spoke in support of the application: 
Page 21



6

 There had been wide consultation with stakeholders prior to the application;
 The access arrangements had been agreed with the highways authority; and
 This was an outline application. Many of the objections related to matters of 

detail which could be addressed at the design stage.

Imran Lokhon, one of the local ward members, spoke about the application. He 
welcomed the extra conditions recommended but expressed concerns including:

 The percentage of affordable housing offered was disappointing;
 Further measures were required to reduce the risk of flooding; and
 Some of the S106 contributions should be allocated to specific purposes 

rather than general headings.

A motion, moved and seconded, to approve the application was declared carried on 
being put to the vote.

RESOLVED: to delegate authority to grant planning permission for application 
P14/S2860/O to the head of planning subject to:

i) the completion of a S106 agreement to include:

a) A minimum of 26% affordable housing with a tenure to be agreed to achieve the 
headline figure but not less than 60% affordable rent. 

b) On site provisions and contributions as identified in the infrastructure section of 
the report.

c) Matrix for extra contributions for larger dwellings if different mix agreed.
d) School site to be 2.2ha and to be remediated, serviced – all abnormal costs to be 

covered by applicant.
e) School to be ready by 90 occupations or 15 months following first occupation, 

whichever earlier
f) S278 works to be secured including the public rights of way on site and highway 

works off site.
g) Indexation to be added to items in Table 4.
h) Bonds or security for school.

ii) Conditions covering the following matters:

Conditions

1. Approved plans and document list.
2. Approved land uses (as per masterplan).
3. Commencement time limit.
4. Time limit for submission of reserved matters.

Restrictions

5. Hours of construction.
6. Lifetime homes and wheelchair housing (CSH4).
7. All dwellings and facilities to provide cycle parking – details in reserved matters.

Pre commencement conditions

8. Phasing plan.
9. Construction management plan (CMP).

Page 22



7

10. Employment and skills plan. 
11. Detail of access – A4130 and Slade End roundabout. 
12. Detail of works to public rights of way.
13. Written scheme of archaeological investigation to be submitted.
14. Staged programme of archaeological mitigation in accordance with written 

scheme of investigation.
15. Intrusive investigation for contamination to be carried out.
16. Drainage strategy and programme - whole site – surface and foul. 
17. Details of existing and proposed levels across the site.
18. Studies of water supply infrastructure. 
19. Biodiversity enhancement method statement and proposals.
20. Submission of a housing delivery document.
21. Design and landscaping codes – whole site. 
22. Travel plan.

Details to be submitted with reserved matters 

23. Details of surface and foul drainage to comply with drainage strategy.
24. Bus gate details.
25. Bus route, bus stops and shelters.
26. Design statement demonstrating compliance with design code.
27. Hard and soft landscaping scheme - comply with design code / biodiversity 

method statement.
28. Tree protection scheme.
29. Landscape management and maintenance plan.
30. Replacement planting if damaged/destroyed in five years.
31. Details of electric vehicle charging points. 
32. Energy and sustainable design standards. 
33. Noise impact assessment and mitigation measures. 
34. Details of lighting. 
35. Detailed specifications for allotments, playing fields and play areas.

Prior to occupation

36. No dwelling to be occupied unless links provided to existing highway / footway. 
37. No dwelling to be occupied unless access, vehicle and cycle parking provided/ 

retained thereafter.
38. Means of enclosure implemented before occupation.

Other conditions

39. Housing mix to be as per Table 3 unless otherwise agreed in writing.
40. Any CCTV to be agreed in writing.

119 P16/S2543/FUL - Cau Restaurant, 38 Hart Street, Henley-on-
Thames 

Lorraine Hillier declared an interest in this item, stepped down from the committee 
and took no part in the debate or voting on this item.

Joan Bland, one of the local ward councillors, stepped down from the committee and 
took no part in the debate or voting on this item.   

Page 23



8

The committee considered application P16/S2543/FUL for the removal of Condition 5 
(no customer access to patio) of planning permission P08/E0834 to allow limited use 
of the rear courtyard at Cau Restaurant, 38 Hart Street, Henley-on-Thames.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history 
were detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this 
meeting.

Stefan Gawrysiak, a representative of Henley Town Council, spoke objecting to the 
application.  The town council’s concerns included:

 There will be further residential developments affected by this application 
following other recently approved planning applications within the locality;

 The application was an attempt to overturn a previous committee decision to 
restrict the use of the courtyard. This condition had been imposed to protect 
neighbouring amenity; and

 The previous temporary permission should be extended for a further twelve 
months, so that the impact on neighbouring properties could be monitored.

A motion, moved and seconded, to approve the application was declared carried on 
being put to the vote.

RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P16/S2543/FUL subject to 
the following conditions:

1. No part of the patio and garden shall be open to and used by customers outside 
the times of 0900hrs and 1800hrs Monday to Friday and not at all on Saturday, 
Sundays or Bank Holidays. 

2. No music, either live or recorded, shall be provided in the external courtyard area 
at any time.

3. All door and window openings on to the rear garden and patio areas shall remain 
closed at all times other than for access to and from the garden.

120 P16/S2212/O - Land to west of Chinnor Road,  Towersey 

Ian White, one of the local ward councillors, stepped down from the committee and 
took no part in the debate or voting on this item.   

The committee considered application P16/S2212/O for the erection of four dwellings 
and the provision of a new access to the paddock land to the west of land to the west 
of Chinnor Road, Towersey.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history 
were detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this 
meeting.

Mark Davis, a representative of Towersey Parish Council, spoke objecting to the 
application.  The parish council’s concerns included:

 The proposal was contrary to the National Planning Policy Framework and the 
South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP);

 Towersey had delivered, and continued to deliver, its quota of houses as 
required by the SOLP;

Page 24



9

 The proposal was unacceptable ribbon development; and
 Approval of the application would set a precedent and undermine the 

emerging Towersey Neighbourhood Plan.

Adrian Gould, the applicant’s agent, spoke in support of the application: 
 No weight should be given to the emerging Towersey Neighbourhood Plan in 

the absence of a five year supply of deliverable housing;
 The site was in a sustainable location; and 
 There had been no objections from statutory consultees.

Ian White, one of the local ward members, spoke objecting to the application. His 
concerns included:

 The erection of four dwellings would make no significant contribution to the 
five-year housing supply;

 The council’s preferred options document 2016, cited in the report, was 
irrelevant as it had not been formally approved;

 The proposal was ribbon development;
 The site was not in a sustainable location; there were virtually no services 

nearby and the bus service was on the verge of collapse.  

The committee considered that the proposal was unsustainable and represented an 
undesirable extension to the village. 

Contrary to the officer’s recommendation, a motion, moved and seconded, to refuse 
the application was declared carried on being put to the vote.

RESOLVED: to refuse application P16/S2212/O for the following reason:

The application site lies beyond the built up edge of Towersey and the proposed 
development would result in an undesirable extension to the settlement to the 
detriment of the undeveloped rural character and appearance of the site and its 
surroundings. This identifiable harm significantly and demonstrably outweighs the 
modest benefits of the proposal. As such, the proposal would not comprise 
sustainable development as defined by local and national legislation and the proposal 
is contrary to policies CSS1, CSR1, CSQ3 and CSEN1 of the South Oxfordshire 
Core Strategy, policies C4, G2, G4 and D1 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 
and Government Guidance within the National Planning Policy Framework.

121 P16/S2223/FUL - Land to west of Withywindle, Abingdon Road, 
Burcot 

The committee considered application P16/S2223/FUL for the proposed erection of a 
pair of semi-detached three bedroom dwellings and a detached garage building at 
land to the west of Withywindle, Abingdon Road, Burcot.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history 
were detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this 
meeting.

Alan Stewart and Till Gins, local residents, spoke objecting to the application. Their 
concerns included:

 The proposal represented overdevelopment of the site;
Page 25



10

 There was insufficient parking provision; 
 Additional traffic would be generated on an unlit, single track access road; and
 There was a danger of vehicles reversing onto the A415.

Adrian Gould, the applicant’s agent, spoke in support of the application: 
 The proposed development would not be out of keeping with the area;
 The plans had been amended to reduce the width of the development; and
 Each dwelling would have two off-street parking places. 

Sue Lawson, the local ward member, spoke objecting to the application. Her 
concerns included:

 She was not opposed to development on the site but two dwellings constituted 
overdevelopment;

 The proposed 3 storey building was out of keeping with the area;
 The garages were in the wrong location;
 There were insufficient passing places on the access road; and
 There was no provision for visitors’ parking.

She requested the committee to defer consideration of the application pending a site 
visit.

A motion, moved and seconded, to approve the application, subject to an additional 
condition to provide one parking space for visitors, was declared lost on being put to 
the vote.

Some Members considered the proposed development to be out of keeping with the 
established semi-rural character of the area. Contrary to the officer’s 
recommendation, a motion, moved and seconded, to refuse the application was 
declared carried on being put to the vote.

RESOLVED: to refuse application P16/S2223/FUL for the following reason:

That having regard to the prevailing character of the area which comprises 
predominantly large detached dwellings in extensive plots, the proposed pair of semi-
detached dwellings would fail to respect the established pattern of development and 
would have a harmful effect on the established character and appearance of the area 
by way of its plot size, density, design and scale. As such it would be contrary to 
policies CSR1 and CSQ3 of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy and policies D1 
and H4 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan.

122 P16/S2224/FUL - The Nursery School, Rectory Road, Great 
Haseley 

The committee considered application P16/S2224/FUL for the conversion of the Old 
School building to dwelling and the erection of a new detached dwelling within the 
grounds of The Old School, Great Haseley. The proposal includes for the demolition 
of the single storey flat roof extensions, lean-to conservatories and a prefabricated 
outbuilding at The Nursery School, Rectory Road, Great Haseley.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history 
were detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this 
meeting.

Page 26



11

David Simcox, a representative of Great Haseley Parish Council, spoke objecting to 
the application.  The parish council’s concerns included:

 The proposed development was not in keeping with the area;
 The design was poor;
 The scale of the site and the proposed materials were inappropriate; and
 The access to the site was dangerous. 

John Alexander, a local resident, spoke objecting to the application. His concerns 
included:

 The design was poor;
 The proposal would damage an attractive building; and
 The proposal did not respect the value of the Old School building and the date 

stone would be removed. 

Mike Orr, the applicant’s architect and Adrian Gould, the applicant’s agent, spoke in 
support of the application: 

 They had worked with the officers to ensure that the proposed design was 
acceptable within a conservation area;

 The building would be returned to its original character with inappropriate 
additions removed;

 Traditional materials would be used; and
 The date stone would be retained.

A motion, moved and seconded, to approve the application, subject to an additional 
condition to retain the date stone, was declared carried on being put to the vote.

RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P16/S2224/FUL subject to 
the following conditions:

1. Commencement three years - full planning permission.
2. Approved plans. 
3. New vehicular access. 
4. Sample materials required (all).
5. Details of boundary treatments.
6. Existing vehicular access. 
7. Parking and manoeuvring areas retained. 
8. Hours of construction. 
9. Hours of construction and demolition to be restricted.
10. Development to take place in accordance with bat mitigation plan submitted.
11. Retention of date stone. 

123 P16/S2140/FUL - Chestnut House, Station Road, Lower 
Shiplake 

Paul Harrison, one of the local ward councillors, stepped down from the committee 
and took no part in the debate or voting on this item.   

The committee considered application P16/S2140/FUL for a three bedroom, 2 storey 
detached house within the rear garden of Chestnut House, Station Road, Lower 
Shiplake.

Page 27



12

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history 
were detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this 
meeting.

David Pheasant, a representative of Shiplake Parish Council, spoke objecting to the 
application.  The parish council’s concerns included:

 The proposed development would have a significant impact on neighbouring 
properties; and 

 There would be overlooking and a loss of privacy. 

Mike Shelley and David Carlsson, local residents, spoke objecting to the application. 
Their concerns included:

 The proposal constituted overdevelopment;
 Neighbouring properties would be overlooked; and
 The development would compromise the living conditions of neighbouring 

residential properties.  

Dean Bradbury, the applicant’s agent, spoke in support of the application: 
 The proposed dwelling was of an appropriate design and was of a suitable 

scale for the plot;
 The site was bounded by mature hedges; and 
 The distance from neighbouring properties and the proposed location of 

windows meant that there would not be significant overlooking. 

Paul Harrison, one of the local ward members, spoke and requested the committee 
to defer consideration of the application, pending a site visit.

A motion, moved and seconded, to defer consideration of the application pending a 
site visit was declared lost on being put to the vote.

A motion, moved and seconded, to approve the application was declared carried on 
being put to the vote.

RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P16/S2140/FUL subject to 
the following conditions:

1. Commencement of development within three years. 
2. Development to be carried out in accordance with the approved plans. 
3. Schedule of materials to be agreed prior to the commencement of development
4. Details of existing and proposed levels to be agreed prior to the commencment of 

development.
5. Existing vehicular access to be improved and laid out prior to occupation of the 

dwelling.
6. Turning area and car parking to be carried out in accordance with the approved 

plans.
7. Tree protection details to be agreed prior to occupation of the dwelling.
8. Withdrawal of permitted development rights for extensions and outbuildings.
9. Refuse and recycling storage to be implemented as approved.

124 P16/S2257/FUL - 46 Crescent Way, Cholsey 

Page 28



13

The committee considered application P16/S2257/FUL for a new three bed dwelling 
attached to existing and a single storey extension to rear aspect at 46 Crescent Way, 
Cholsey.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history 
were detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this 
meeting.

David Hurford, the applicant’s agent, spoke in support of the application. 

A motion, moved and seconded, to approve the application was declared carried on 
being put to the vote.

RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P16/S2257/FUL subject to 
the following conditions:

1. Commencement three years - full planning permission.
2. Approved plans. 
3. Matching materials (walls and roof).
4. Withdrawal of permitted development (Part 1 Class A) - no extensions etc.
5. Withdrawal of permitted development (Part 1 Class E) - no outbuildings etc.
6. Parking and manoeuvring areas retained

125 P16/S2535/FUL - Land off Reading Road,, Cholsey, Oxon 

The committee considered application P16/S2535/FUL for proposed 
telecommunication installation and associated works at land off Reading Road, 
Cholsey, Oxon.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history 
were detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this 
meeting.

A motion, moved and seconded, to approve the application was declared carried on 
being put to the vote.

RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P16/S2535/FUL subject to 
the following conditions:
1. Commencement three years - full planning permission.
2. Approved plans. 
3. Removal of telecommunications equipment when redundant to operations.
4. Parking and manoeuvring areas retained

The meeting closed at 10.00 pm

Chairman Date

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Minutes
OF A MEETING OF THE

Planning Committee

HELD ON WEDNESDAY 2 NOVEMBER 2016 AT 6.00 PM 
DIDCOT CIVIC HALL, BRITWELL ROAD, DIDCOT, OX11 7JN

Present:

Felix Bloomfield (Chairman)
Joan Bland, Margaret Davies, Anthony Dearlove, Jeannette Matelot, Toby Newman, 
David Nimmo-Smith, Richard Pullen, David Turner and Ian White

Apologies:

Margaret Turner tendered apologies. 

Officers:

Steve Culliford, Simon Kitson, Roseanne Lillywhite, Paul Lucas, Marc Pullen, and 
Tom Wyatt 

126 Declarations of disclosable pecuniary interest 

None

127 Minutes of the previous meeting 

RESOLVED: to approve the minutes of the meeting held on 5 October 2016 as a 
correct record and agree that the Chairman sign these as such.  

128 Urgent items 

None

129 Applications deferred or withdrawn 

None

130 Proposals for site visit reports 

None

Public Document Pack

Page 31

Agenda Item 3



2

131 P16/S1400/FUL - Corbiere, Dunsden Way, Binfield Heath 

The committee considered application P16/S1400/FUL to demolish the existing 
garage, erect a two-storey four bedroom dwelling, and form a new access to the 
south of the approved replacement dwelling at Corbiere, Dunsden Way, Binfield 
Heath.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history 
were detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this 
meeting.  

Elisabeth Ransom, a representative of Binfield Heath Parish Council, spoke objecting 
to the application.  Her concerns included the following:

 The site would be overcrowded and the proposal did not fit in with the 
immediate environment 

 There would be extra traffic and any parking off-site would cause problems 
 A smaller property might be acceptable 
 Once built, there should be no further development on this site 

 
Helen Mearns and Patrick Hicks, local residents, spoke objecting to the application.  
Their concerns included the following: 

 There would be an adverse impact on the amenity of her neighbouring garden 
with an 8.3 metre high facing wall 

 There was no garage proposed 
 It would be out of keeping with the immediate vicinity 

The committee considered the application, with advice from officers where 
appropriate; the discussion included the following points: 

 It would be unreasonable to not allow any further planning applications on this 
site 

 The application complied with planning policy and the site was large enough 
for the proposed development 

A motion, moved and seconded, to approve the application was declared carried on 
being put to the vote.  

RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P16/S1400/FUL, subject to 
the following conditions:

1. Commencement of development within three years.
2. Development to be in accordance with approved plans.
3. Details of levels required prior to commencement.
4. Schedule of materials required prior to commencement.
5. Obscure glazing to the north facing en-suite window.
6. Withdrawal of permitted development rights for extensions, roof extensions 

and outbuildings.
7. Parking and manoeuvring areas retained as on the approved plan.
8. No surface water drainage to the public highway.
9. Details of landscaping (including hard surfacing and boundary treatment) 

required prior to commencement.
10.Details of tree and hedge protection required prior to commencement.

Page 32



3

132 P16/S2650/FUL - Newlands, Platts Lane, Northend 

The committee considered application P16/S2650/FUL to remove condition 2 of 
planning permission P12/S2526/FUL, to enable the permanent retention of the use of 
land for the stationing of a residential mobile home at Newlands, Platts Lane, 
Northend.  

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history 
were detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this 
meeting.  

Ron Perrin, the applicant’s agent, spoke in support of the application. His speech 
included the following: 

 No suitable sites had been found to allocate for gypsy or traveller 
accommodation as part of the Local Plan preparation 

 Approving the application would help this 
 There had been one or two mobile homes on this site for over fifty years 
 There would be no harm to the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

The committee considered the application, with advice from officers where 
appropriate; the discussion included the following points: 

 A three-year temporary personal permission had been proposed 
 A temporary permission was more appropriate in the Area of Outstanding 

Natural Beauty 
 In three years, the Local Plan might have identified sites for gypsy and 

travellers 

A motion, moved and seconded, to approve the application was declared carried on 
being put to the vote.  

RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P16/S2650/FUL, subject to 
the following conditions:

1. Temporary use of building for three years from date of permission.
2. Development to be implemented in accordance with the approved plans.
3. Occupation by the Curtis family only.
4. That the site shall only be used for the stationing of one mobile home and one 

touring caravan.

133 P16/S1955/HH - Bridleway Barn, Spriggs Alley, Chinnor Hill 

Ian White, one of the local ward councillors, stepped down from the committee and 
took no part in the debate or voting on this item.

The committee considered application P16/S1955/HH to erect a single storey 
extension and add a roof light to the detached dwelling, construct a driveway, and 
erect a detached two-bay garage at Bridleway Barn, Spriggs Alley, Chinnor Hill.  

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history 
were detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this 
meeting.

Richard Turner, the applicant’s agent, spoke in support of the application. His speech 
included the following: 

Page 33



4

 The proposed development was small-scale and appropriately designed, using 
traditional materials 

 There would be no adverse impact on the neighbours or the Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty  

 It met planning policies 

Ian White, one of the local ward councillors, spoke to the application. His concerns 
included the following: 

 He had a split view on this application 
 The Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty should not be violated by 

development 
 The applicant had a right to submit a planning application 

The committee considered the application, with advice from officers where 
appropriate; the discussion included the following points: 

 Appropriate development could be permitted in the Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty 

 The proposed development was appropriate for this site and would blend in 
with its surroundings 

A motion, moved and seconded, to approve the application was declared carried on 
being put to the vote.

RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P16/S1955/HH, subject to 
the following conditions:

1. Commencement three years - full planning permission.
2. Planning permission to be implemented in accordance with approved plans.
3. Materials to be implemented as on plan.
4. No garage conversion into accommodation.
5. New hedge of a native species to be provided along boundary with bridleway.

134 P16/S2222/FUL - 48 Park Street, Thame 

Jeanette Matelot, one of the local ward councillors, stepped down from committee 
and did not take part in the debate or voting for this item.

The committee considered application P16/S2222/FUL to convert the existing garage 
into a one bedroom bungalow at 48 Park Street, Thame.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history 
were detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this 
meeting.

Linda Emery, a representative of Thame Town Council, spoke objecting to the 
application. Her concerns included the following: 

 The loss of the garage would displace parking 
 The proposed house would be adjacent to the footpath, whereas other homes 

in Victoria Mead were set back from the road 
 This would be harmful to the street scene in Victoria Mead and to the 

character and appearance of the Conservation Area 
 
Andy Pettican, the applicant’s agent, spoke in support of the application. His speech 
included the following: 

Page 34



5

 The proposal was of high quality design and followed sustainable principles 
 The height of the building would only be raised by about 2 metres 
 There were adequate visibility splays and there had been no objection from 

the highways authority 
 The access objections from the residents’ association could be overcome 

Jeanette Matelot, one of the local ward councillors, spoke objecting to the application. 
Her concerns included the following: 

 This was a conversion of a garage into a two-storey house 
 It was inappropriate infilling and backland development in the Conservation 

Area 
 Any parking on street would cause additional traffic problems 
 Thame did not need more housing 

The committee considered the application, with advice from officers where 
appropriate; the discussion included the following points: 

 Some councillors believed that this development would harm the Conservation 
Area 

 Others believed that this was acceptable development and there would be 
minimal impact on the street scene and the Conservation Area 

A motion, moved and seconded, to refuse the application was declared lost on being 
put to the vote.  

A new motion, moved and seconded, to approve the application was declared carried 
on being put to the vote.

RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P16/S2222/FUL, subject to 
the following conditions:

1. Commencement of development – three years from permission.
2. Development to be carried out in accordance with supporting plans.
3. Schedule of materials required, to be submitted to the local planning authority, 

for all external materials.
4. No new openings along the NE and NW elevations without first obtaining 

permission from the local planning authority.
5. Visibility splays to be improved/provided along Victoria Mead for two metres.
6. Parking and manoeuvring areas to be implemented and retained in 

accordance with the block plan.
7. Details of boundary walls or fences proposed to be submitted for consideration 

by the local planning authority.

135 P16/S1971/FUL - 4 Elm Drive, Garsington 

The committee considered application P16/S1971/FUL to demolish the existing 
internal and external walls and erect a replacement dwelling at 4 Elm Drive, 
Garsington.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history 
were detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this 
meeting.

The committee considered the application, with advice from officers where 
appropriate; the discussion included the following points: 

Page 35



6

 There would be no material loss of daylight or adverse impact to the 
neighbour’s privacy 

 The proposal met the design guide and was in keeping with the character and 
appearance of the surrounding area 

A motion, moved and seconded, to approve the application was declared carried on 
being put to the vote.

RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P16/S1971/FUL, subject to 
the following conditions:

1. Commencement three years - full planning permission.
2. Approved plans.
3. Sample materials required (walls and roof).
4. Parking and manoeuvring areas retained.
5. No garage conversion into accommodation.
6. Landscaping Scheme (trees and shrubs only)
7. Withdrawal of permitted development rights (part 1 classes A, B and C – no 

extensions etc.)
8. Withdrawal of permitted development rights (part 1 class E – no buildings etc.)

The meeting closed at 7.30 pm

Chairman Date

Page 36



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 23 November 2016

APPLICATION NO. P16/S1850/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 4.7.2016
PARISH STANTON ST JOHN
WARD MEMBER(S) John Walsh
APPLICANT Mr Nam Sanghera
SITE Hawkhill Place, Stanton St John, OX33 1HS
PROPOSAL Demolition of existing two-storey dwelling and 

integrated garages and the erection of a new two 
storey dwelling.

AMENDMENTS As amplified by plans S31 and S30 showing ridge 
height assessments and comparison profile study.

GRID REFERENCE 456561/208919
OFFICER Kim Gould

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 This planning application is referred to the Planning Committee because the 

recommendation is contrary to the views of Stanton St John Parish Council.

1.2 Hawkhill Place is a large, detached dwelling which sits within a large curtilage in an 
isolated location outside the built up limits of any settlement within the Oxford green 
belt. It is set well back from the road and approached by means of a long gravel drive. 
The site lies in a dip in the landscape and is at a lower level to that of the surrounding 
landscape. It is surrounded by arable farmland.

1.3 The property is not listed and does not lie within a conservation area or any other area 
of restraint other than green belt. A neighbouring property, Shepherd’s Pit lies to the 
east of Hawkhill Place.

1.4 The existing dwelling has been extended over the years which has resulted in a 
property with a variety of roof heights and a relatively large, rambling footprint.

1.5 An Ordnance Survey extract is attached at Appendix 1 showing the location of the 
site.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 This application seeks full planning permission to demolish the existing dwelling at 

Hawkhill Place and to erect a replacement dwelling. The application follows a pre- 
application advice request application under ref P15/S4288/PEM.

2.2 The replacement dwelling would have a consolidated footprint and would have 
rendered walls with stone features such as stone cornices, window surrounds, heads 
and sills. The roof would be low pitched with Welsh Blue slate. A copy of some of the 
submitted plans is attached at Appendix 2. A full copy of the plans together with 
supporting statement can be viewed on the council’s website at www.southoxon.gov.uk

2.3 The new dwelling would sit on part of the footprint of the existing dwelling.

Page 37

Agenda Item 7

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S1850/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 23 November 2016

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Stanton St John Parish Council – Object – strongly object on the grounds that:

 The material, scale and impact of this property would be totally inappropriate in 
the current green belt, rural Oxfordshire setting.

 Out of character
 Not in keeping with the neighbouring property.
 Render is an inappropriate material. 
 Unnneighbourly by way of overbearing. 
 Would not preserve the setting and special character of the area. 
 Contrary to policy H12. 
 Inevitable future demand for garaging and outbuildings

Health & Housing - Env. Protection Team - No strong views

Neighbour Object (4) – 
 Inappropriate development
 Overbearing
 Out of keeping
 Not in accordance with policy H12
 Harmful to the openness and visual amenity of the green belt
 Inappropriate materials
 Highly visible from a distance 
 Not in accordance with the Design Guide
 Hawkhill Place is inextricably linked with Shepherds Pit Cottage and their 

relationship should be retained
 This part of the road should remain undeveloped and rural
 No garaging or outbuildings are proposed on the plan – these should be 

included to represent the true scale of intended development.
 High profile development or ostentatious design should be discouraged.

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P15/S4288/PEM - (26/02/2016)

The demolition of an existing 2 storey dwelling house with attached outbuildings and 
the erection of a new 2-storey dwelling house with attached ancillary residential 
accommodation.

P01/N0479 - (09/08/2001)
Change of use from redundant agricultural land to residential use.

P00/N0281 - Approved (09/06/2000)
Extension to form covered link between existing dwelling and barn/outbuilding.

P98/N0360 - Approved (01/06/2000)
Conversion of redundant farm building to family annexe.

P99/N0601 - Refused (17/11/1999)
Extension to existing house using existing structure and new first floor link.       

P97/N0648 - Approved (17/06/1998)
Conversion of garage loft to studio.  (As amended by Dwg Nos.9782/SK3/A, SK6/A and 
SK8/A accompanying Agent's letter dated 14 May 1998).

P98/N0164 - Refused (13/05/1998)
Conversion and extension of redundant outbuilding to annexe.

Page 38

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P15/S4288/PEM
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P01/N0479
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P00/N0281
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P98/N0360
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P99/N0601
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P97/N0648
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P98/N0164


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 23 November 2016

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy policies

CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSEN2  -  Green Belt protection
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy

5.2 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 policies;

D1  -  Principles of good design
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
GB4  -  Openness of Green Belt maintained
H12  -  Replacement dwelling
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2008

5.3 National Planning Policy Framework

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance

5.4 Neighbourhood Plan

Paragraph 216 of the NPPF allows weight to be given to relevant policies in emerging 
plans, unless other material considerations indicate otherwise, and only subject to the 
stage of preparation of the plan, the extent of unresolved objections and the degree of 
consistency of the relevant emerging policies with the NPPF

Stanton St John are considering whether to prepare a Neighbourhood plan and there is 
no weight attached at this stage.

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The main issues to be considered in the determination of this planning application are:

1. Principle of a replacement dwelling.
2. Policy H12 criteria
3. Impact on the openness and visual amenity of the green belt
4. Impact on the neighbouring property
5. CIL

6.2 Principle
The site lies within the Oxford green belt. The NPPF advises that the fundamental aim 
of the green belt is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open; the 
essential characteristics of green belts are their openness and permanence. Green 
belts serve five purposes:

 To check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas;
 To prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another;
 To assist in safeguarding the countryside form encroachment;

Page 39



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 23 November 2016

 To preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and
 To assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and 

other urban land.

6.3 Within green belts there is a presumption against inappropriate development. 
Inappropriate development is, by definition harmful and should be resisted unless there 
are very special circumstances to outweigh the harm. The NPPF sets out those 
developments which are not inappropriate. Included within these is the replacement of 
an existing building provided that the new building is in the same use and not materially 
larger than the one it replaces. In this particular case, the dwelling known as Hawkhill 
Place will be demolished and replaced with another dwelling, thereby retaining the 
residential use of the property. Volume calculations have been provided by the agent 
and compared to those undertaken by officers. The proposed new dwelling would be 
approximately 10% larger in volume than the existing. Such an increase over the 
existing dwelling is not considered to be materially larger and as such the principle of a 
new dwelling of this size is acceptable on this site.

6.4 Policy H12 
Policy H12 of the SOLP allows for a replacement dwelling outside the built-up limits of 
settlements provided that the following criteria are met:

i. The use has not been abandoned - Hawkhill Place is currently being used 
as a family home.

ii. The existing dwelling is not listed, or of historic, visual or architectural 
interest – Hawkhill Place is not a listed building and is of no particular 
historic, visual or architectural interest.

iii. The proposed dwelling is not materially greater in volume than the 
existing dwelling (taking account of permitted development rights) – 
The existing building occupies a sprawling footprint and includes a number 
of extensions and additions to the original building. The proposed dwelling 
occupies a more consolidated footprint with a larger volume than the 
existing dwelling. The explanatory text of policy H12 advises that “not 
materially greater in volume means that in addition to any unused permitted 
development rights, an increase of up to, but no more than, 10% in volume 
may be acceptable.” It is your officers view that although there have been 
many additions to this property already, unused permitted development 
rights do remain. The additional volume of the proposed dwelling has been 
calculated to be in the region of 10% larger than the existing dwelling which 
is not considered by your officers to constitute a materially larger increase. It 
is recommended to remove permitted development rights relating to 
extensions and outbuildings which will enable the council to control any 
future development proposals on this site to ensure the openness of the 
green belt is maintained.

iv. The overall impact would not be any greater than the existing dwelling 
on the character and appearance of the site and the surrounding area. 
The design of the proposed dwelling is significantly different to that of the 
existing dwelling and will appear as a grand country house with neo-
classical elements. However, given the isolated location of the site, the 
topography and existing dense planting along the boundary with Shepherd’s 
Pit, the proposed dwelling would not appear out of keeping in its setting. The 
footprint of the proposed dwelling would be a consolidation of the existing 
dwelling. Plans showing the comparative bulk and ridge heights of the 

Page 40



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 23 November 2016

existing and proposed dwelling at Hawkhill and the neighbouring property at 
Shepherd’s Pitt have been submitted and these are attached at Appendix 3.

v. The siting, design and materials are in keeping with the locality. The 
siting of the proposed dwelling would be as per the existing dwelling. The 
design is materially different to the existing and the neighbouring property 
but is not considered to be out of keeping with the larger locality. There are 
examples of other “grand” houses within Stanton St John and along 
Bayswater Road. The proposed materials which are predominantly render 
and stone would be in keeping with those properties in Stanton St John 
where there is a predominance of the use of stone. 

6.5 Impact on the openness and visual amenity of the Oxford green belt
Policy GB4 of the SOLP advises that where new development is permitted within the 
green belt, it should be designed and sited in such a way that its impact on the open 
nature, rural character and visual amenity of the green belt is minimised. In this case, 
the new dwelling is proposed to be sited within a dip in the landscape where its visual 
prominence will be minimised and the openness of the green belt and the fundamental 
aims of the green belt listed in paragraph 6.2 will not be compromised. Plan references  
S30 and S31 which are attached at Appendix 3 support this view.

6.6 Impact on the neighbouring property
The only property affected by this proposal lies to the east of Hawkhill Place and is 
known as Shepherd’s Pit. This neighbouring property lies at a slightly higher level than 
the application site. The replacement dwelling will be sited further away from 
Shepherd’s Pit than the existing dwelling increasing the separation distance from the 
boundary from some 4.8m to 19.7m and the distance from the side elevation of the new 
dwelling to the side elevation of Shepherd’s Pit from some 19.8m to 37.8m. Although 
the new replacement dwelling will be higher than the existing dwelling, it will not be 
oppressive on the occupiers of this property given the distance it will be from 
Shepherd’s Pitt and the difference in levels between the 2 dwellings. There will not be 
any direct overlooking from the new dwelling to the private rear garden of Shepherd’s 
Pit.

6.7 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
The council’s CIL charging schedule has been adopted and applies to the relevant 
proposals form 1 April, 2016. CIL is a planning charge that local authorities can 
implement to help deliver infrastructure and to support the development of their area, 
and is primarily calculated on the increase in footprint created as a result of the 
development.

In this case, CIL is liable because the proposal involves the erection of a new 
replacement dwelling. However, as the internal floor space being created is no larger 
than the existing internal floor area, there is no CIL payable in this case.

7.0 CONCLUSION
I recommend that planning permission is granted because the principle of a 
replacement dwelling is acceptable on the site. The new dwelling will occupy a smaller 
footprint and will not be materially larger than the existing dwelling. The design, scale 
and materials would not appear out of keeping in this location and the proposal accords 
with Development Plan policies and advice contained within the NPPF.

Page 41



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 23 November 2016

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 To grant planning permission subject to the following conditions:

1. Commencement three years – full planning permission.
2. Approved plans. 
3. Withdrawal of permitted development rights (Part 1 Class A) - no 

extensions etc.
4. Withdrawal of permitted development rights (Part 1 Class E) - no buildings 

etc.
5. Sample materials required (walls and roof).

Author:        Kim Gould
Contact No: 01235 422600
Email :         planning@southoxon.gov.uk  

Page 42



Appendix 1

Page 43

Agenda Item 7



Appendix 2P
age 44



S18
25/05/16

Mr Sanghera & Ms Kaur
DWELLING HOUSE Hawkhill Place OX33 1HS

Existing Elevations
Drawing No.

Drawing TitleDate

ProjectDate NotesRev Architect \ S.O.

1:100 @ A1
Scale

Status Revision
14 Church Green, Witney, Oxfordshire, OX28 4AW. Tel:01993 702394  Fax:01993 703675   

RYMILLS & PARTNERS     Architects P
age 45



P
age 46



P
age 47

kenny
Rectangle

kenny_1
Text Box
A



P
age 48



P
age 49



Appendix 3

P
age 50



P
age 51



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  - 23 November 2016

APPLICATION NO. P16/S2045/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 29.6.2016
PARISH CHOLSEY
WARD MEMBER(S) Jane Murphy & Pat Dawe
APPLICANT Mr & Mrs Robinson
SITE 1 Sandy Lane, Cholsey, OX10 9PY
PROPOSAL Proposed new detached dwelling. 
AMENDMENTS  As amended by drawing nos PL01A, 2A, 3A, 4A, 5A 

and 6A received on 14 September 2016.
GRID REFERENCE 458533/186250
OFFICER Marc Pullen

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 The site (which is shown on the OS extract attached as Appendix A) lies to the east 

of 1 Sandy Lane and is curtilage to this property. The site falls within the built up limits 
of Cholsey and does not belong to any designated area of land.  

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 This application seeks full planning permission for the erection of a one and a half 

storey, two bedroom dwelling on the plot of land adjacent to 1 Sandy Lane. Parking 
spaces for two cars are provided for the new dwelling and 1 Sandy Lane; in addition 1 
Sandy Lane would benefit from a single garage.

2.2 A copy of all the amended plans accompanying the application is attached as 
Appendix B. Other documentation associated with the application can be viewed on the 
council’s website, www.southoxon.gov.uk.

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Cholsey Parish Council – Object

 Concerns as to how the decommissioned oil tank, mentioned in the application, 
is to be dealt with

 Developing this plot would mean the loss of an important open space
 The dwelling should not be used towards the housing land supply issues.


Highways Liaison Officer (OCC) - No objection, subject to condition

County Archaeological Services) - No objection

Health and Housing (Contaminated Land) – No details of contamination, condition 
attached which requires investigation and potential remediation of contaminants

Neighbours – No strong views (2) 
 Concern with the possible use of close board fence, which would restrict parking 

and be out of keeping with street scene
 Concerns that the proper procedure is followed when dealing with the redundant 

oil tank and any contaminated land on the plot, ground survey of the site is 
requested and results should be shared with neighbour

 Concern about possible indiscriminate parking on road if not enough parking 
provided on site

Page 53

Agenda Item 8

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S2045/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  - 23 November 2016

Neighbours – Object (1)
 Loss of privacy – neighbour is concerned that their existing side facing window 

would be able to overlook garden area and proposed kitchen windows
 The new dwelling would be restricted of light by neighbour to the south and their 

trees
 Neighbour would be faced with a property directly bordering 

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P66/R3425 - Approved (09/06/1966)

Proposed underground oil storage tank and distribution system

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 National Planning Policy Framework & National Planning Practice Guidance

5.2 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy 2012 policies; 
CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSQ3  -  Design
CSR1  -  Housing in villages
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy

5.3 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 policies; 
C9  -  Loss of landscape features
CON11  -  Protection of archaeological remains
D1  -  Principles of good design
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
D10  -  Waste Management
EP8  -  Contaminated land
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
H4  -  Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

5.4 South Oxfordshire Design Guide SODG 2016

5.5 Cholsey Neighbourhood Plan – emerging (area designation). Limited weight at 
this stage.

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The main issues in this case are;

 Principle of residential development 
 Impact on character and appearance of surrounding area
 Impact on the amenity of neighbour 
 Highway implications 
 Contaminated land

Principle of residential development 
6.2 The site lies within the built up limits of Cholsey and in this location the principle of 

residential development is largely governed by Policy CSR1 of the South Oxfordshire 
Core Strategy (SOCS), which allows new housing on suitable infill sites within the 
village. The SOCS defines infill as the filling of a small gap in an otherwise built up 
frontage or on other sites within settlements where the site is closely surrounded by 
buildings. The SOCS defines Cholsey as a larger village, and in accordance with Policy 

Page 54

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P66/R3425


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  - 23 November 2016

CSS1 the overall strategy is to support and enhance larger villages as they are 
considered to have sufficient services. 

6.3 Officers consider the proposed location meets this definition since the proposed 
dwellings would occupy a small gap along a built up frontage and would be closely 
surrounded by other buildings. Proposals for residential development which are found 
to be acceptable in principle must also meet the criteria set out within Policy H4 of the 
South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) and other design policies and guidance. 

Impact on character and appearance of surrounding area
6.4 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) confirms a requirement for good 

design. The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG, 2014) elaborates on the 
NPPF, stating that: “new development should look to respond appropriately to the 
existing layout of buildings, streets and spaces…there may be an existing prevailing 
layout that development should respond to and potentially improve” (Para 24).

6.5 Having regard to criterion (i) of Policy H4 of the SOLP, the site currently lies vacant but 
has a decommissioned underground oil tank underground. The Parish have objected to 
the proposal on the grounds that the site is an important open space. However the site 
is not considered to be open or to contribute to an important public view or to the 
character of the area, the site is bounded by residential development with open land to 
the rear. The existing site is overgrown and, in officers opinion, untidy. As such officers 
do not consider the site contributes positively to the built up area and the development 
would go some way to improving upon the existing state of the site. It is not considered 
that the development conflicts with Policy H4, criterion (i). 

6.6 Criterion (ii) and (iii) of Policy H4 seeks to ensure that design, scale, height and 
materials of all new dwellings are in keeping with its surroundings and that the 
character of the area is not harmed by proposals for new dwellings. The scheme has 
been amended during the application process and has departed from a modern design 
to a more ‘traditional’ design, which has drawn from local vernacular. The height of the 
dwelling would be no greater than the immediate neighbours, 1 Sandy Lane and 68 
Station Road. The general appearance and scale of the dwelling is typical of the 
immediate area, with a number of chalet style bungalows/one and a half storey 
bungalows and the materials proposed would be conditioned to ensure the best use of 
materials to respect the surrounding area. 

6.7 The immediate area is characterised for having linear plots which front the highway with 
private amenity gardens to the rear. This proposed dwelling would keep to the building 
line of these dwellings but would have its private amenity area to the side of the 
dwelling, owing to its corner position between Sandy Lane and Station Road. 

6.8 Whilst the plot is small in comparison with surrounding neighbouring plots, it would be 
proportionate to the size of the dwelling proposed and secures adequate levels of off 
street parking and private amenity space in accordance with council guidance. Officers 
do not consider the development to represent overdevelopment as the proposal would 
provide adequate amenity space; an area of 50 square metres is require for 2-bedroom 
dwelling houses as identified within the South Oxfordshire Design Guide (SODG). The 
retained garden space for no.1 Sandy Lane would be approximately 130 square 
metres, which is sufficient in accordance with the SODG which advises a private 
garden area of 100 square metres or more for 3 and above bedroom dwelling houses. 
As such, despite the loss of this piece of land for the proposed development the 
amenity area of the host dwelling would not be materially compromised. The parking 
arrangement/orientation is characteristic of the immediate surrounding area, the details 
of parking and highway concerns are discussed later in this report. 

Page 55



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  - 23 November 2016

6.9 Officers consider that, despite the plot being small in comparison to the surrounding 
area, the development has sought to appropriately draw from local built form and 
character to ensure that the development is not materially harmful to the prevailing 
character of either Station Road or Sandy Lane. But whilst not directly in keeping with 
the surrounding area, the development does compliment local character. 

Impact on neighbours 
6.10 Council policies and guidance seek to ensure all new dwellings should be designed and 

laid out so as to avoid any adverse harm to the amenity of neighbours. The proposed 
dwelling has been designed as to avoid any direct overlooking by windows, to secure 
reasonable levels of privacy for neighbours. Sufficient distance lies between this 
proposed dwelling and the other properties along Sandy Lane, with adequate window 
to window distancing; the closest property being some 25 metres away which is in 
accordance with the SODG. 

6.11 The impact of the proposed dwelling on neighbouring properties’ access to daylight and 
sunlight will be minimal. Neighbouring 1 Sandy Lane has one side facing window but 
this serves a stairwell/landing area. Any loss of light to this window would not be 
considered adverse therefore. Neighbouring 68 Station Road lies south to the site and 
therefore natural sunlight is unlikely to be adversely obstructed by the new dwelling. 

6.12 The neighbour at 68 Station Road has raised objection to the development, citing 
concerns with the proximity of the dwelling on the shared boundary. Officers are mindful 
of this concern have visited the neighbour to assess the perceived harm. The proposed 
new dwelling would be built partially against the boundary to neighbouring 68 Station 
Road but runs linear along the partitioning fence. The proposed dwelling would appear 
4.5 metres above the fence line but would be mostly set away from this fence. The 
proposed roof form would ensure that the overall massing of the roof would not be felt 
by the neighbour. They will be faced with a gabled aspect to the north-western part of 
their garden, but this would be set back by 1.8 metres. This gable is blank, with a false 
window to introduce some character. Overall the proposed dwelling would be sited 
sufficiently far away enough from neighbouring 68 Station Road as to avoid any 
adverse overbearing or oppressive harm to their rear facing habitable rooms and rear 
garden area. 

Highway implications
6.13 The Council’s policies and guidance seek to ensure that in determining planning 

applications, the Council should, in consultation with the local highway authority, ensure 
that new developments are designed to a standard that ensures a safe and attractive 
environment and does not result in an unacceptable level of traffic on the local highway 
network or have a detrimental impact on the amenities and environment of the area.  
Policies H4, T1 and T2 of the SOLP seek to ensure among other things that all 
developments make provision for safe and convenient access to the highway network 
and be served by an adequate road network. Development should provide for sufficient 
parking and access arrangements in accordance with the Council’s parking standards.

6.14 The local highways authority raises no objection to the amended scheme, subject to 
conditions to retain off street parking spaces and the integral garage for parking 
purposes. Adequate parking (2 spaces) can be provided by this development, in 
accordance with the recommended guidance within the SODG (2 spaces), to ensure 
the development does not adversely harm the highway or lead to indiscriminate on-
street parking. 

Page 56



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  - 23 November 2016

Contamination
6.15 Concern has been raised by neighbours regarding the decommissioned oil tank 

underground on site. Policy EP8 of the SOLP seeks to ensure that development on 
contaminated land is not permitted unless the contamination is effectively treated by the 
developer to prevent any harm to human health and the wider environment. Officers are 
mindful of the potential threat that this decommissioned oil tank could pose on future 
occupiers and neighbours. As such a condition is suggested to investigate and 
potentially remediate the impact of contaminants on this site, before and during 
development. 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
6.16 The council’s CIL charging schedule has recently been adopted and has applied to 

relevant proposals since 1 April 2016. CIL is a planning charge that local authorities 
can implement to help deliver infrastructure and to support the development of their 
area, and is primarily calculated on the increase in footprint created as a result of the 
development. The CIL charge applied to new residential development in this case is 
£150 per square metre of floor space (Zone 1). Of that, 15% of the payment should go 
directly to Cholsey Parish Council (as they do not have a made Neighbourhood Plan) 
for spending towards local projects.  In this instance, the internal floor space of the 
dwelling is liable to pay CIL.  

7.0 CONCLUSION
Planning permission should be granted because Cholsey is a sustainable location for 
new residential development and the principle of residential development is considered 
acceptable on this site. Subject to the attached conditions the proposal would not be 
harmful to the character and appearance of the site and surrounding area, the amenity 
of neighbouring occupiers and would not result in any adverse or severe harm to the 
users of the highway. As such, the proposal accords with the Development Plan 
policies.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 To grant planning permission subject to the following conditions: 

1. Commencement three years - full planning permission.
2. Approved plans. 
3. Schedule of materials.
4. Parking and manoeuvring areas retained. 
5. No surface water drainage to highway.
6. No garage conversion into accommodation.
7. Contamination (preliminary risk assessment).
8. Withdrawal of permitted development rights.

Author: Marc Pullen
Contact No: 01235 422600
Email: planning@southoxon.gov.uk 

Page 57

mailto:planning@southoxon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A

Page 59

Agenda Item 8

PullenM
Rectangle



Appendix BP
age 60



P
age 61



P
age 62



P
age 63



P
age 64



P
age 65



P
age 66



P
age 67



P
age 68



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 23 November 2016

APPLICATION NO. P16/S2638/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 5.8.2016
PARISH WATLINGTON
WARD MEMBER(S) Anna Badcock
APPLICANT Mr Simon Ryde
SITE Land to rear of 14 and 16 High Street, Watlington
PROPOSAL Erection of a two storey 3-bedroom dwelling 

following the demolition of existing brick walls and 
timber fencing within the site (position of dwelling 
revised to improve garden space as shown on 
amended site plan received 21st October 2016)

AMENDMENTS One – see above
OFFICER Paul Lucas

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 Officers recommend that planning permission should be granted. This report explains 

how officers have reached this conclusion.  The application is referred to Planning 
Committee due to the Parish Council’s objection. 

1.2 The application site is shown at Appendix 1. It is located within the built-up confines 
of Watlington in the village centre where there are a mixture of uses. The site consists 
of a parcel of land to the rear of No’s 14 (a retail unit with living accommodation 
above) and 16 (a vacant bank) on the north side of High Street. It comprises a gravel 
hardstanding historically used for parking by the two frontage premises and an 
undeveloped area of overgrown grass wrapping around the northern and eastern 
sides of the hardstanding with a close-boarded fence separating the two areas. The 
site is bordered by commercial buildings to the east and west belonging to 3A 
Shirburn Road and 18 High Street, respectively. To the north of the site is another 
commercial unit No.5 and a parking area that serves it. The site lies within Watlington 
Conservation Area. The frontage buildings on this stretch of the northern side of High 
Street are listed, with the exception of No.16.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 The application seeks full planning permission for the erection of a two-storey 3-

bedroom dwelling and realignment of the parking area to provide three parking spaces, 
as shown on the current plans and described in the documents submitted in support of 
the application. An amended site plan was submitted to reposition the dwelling so that a 
greater portion of the outdoor amenity space would be concentrated on the south-
eastern side of the dwelling. The applicant has confirmed that the three parking spaces 
could be shared evenly between the proposed dwelling, No.14 and No.16. The site 
location plan confirms that both No’s 14 and 16 are within the applicant’s ownership.

2.2 Copies of the current plans are provided at Appendix 2 whilst other documentation 
associated with the application can be viewed on the Council’s website: 
www.southoxon.gov.uk.

Page 69

Agenda Item 9

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S2638/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 23 November 2016

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Watlington Parish Council – The application should be refused due to:

this proposal would intensify the use of an existing substandard access. This is a busy 
pedestrian thoroughfare in the town where increased vehicle movements from a 
substandard access can only increase the risk to highway safety and in particular to 
pedestrians. This application has not demonstrated adequate parking and turning 
provision for the neighbouring establishments, as set out by the OCC Local Highway
Authority.
County Archaeological Services (SODC) - No objection
Highways Liaison Officer (Oxfordshire County Council) – Objection - The proposal 
would intensify the use of an existing substandard access. High Street, Watlington is a 
busy pedestrian thoroughfare in the Town Centre, where increased vehicle movements 
from a substandard access can only increase the risk to Highway Safety and in 
particular to pedestrians. The proposal has not demonstrated adequate parking and 
turning provision for the neighbouring establishments.
Conservation Officer (SODC) – Verbal consultation raising no objections
Neighbours – One representation raising concerns about access, parking, loss of 
important gap in the street scene, lack of daylight to bedrooms and gardens and lack of 
refuse collection point.

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 None directly relevant.

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) policies

CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSEN3  -  Historic environment
CSM1  -  Transport
CSQ3  -  Design
CSR1  -  Housing in villages
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy

5.2

5.3

5.4

South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP 2011) policies;
C9  -  Loss of landscape features
CON5  -  Setting of listed building
CON7  -  Proposals in a conservation area
D1  -  Principles of good design
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
D10  -  Waste Management
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
H4  -  Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

Watlington Neighbourhood Plan – Consultation Stage 2 completed, draft being 
prepared

Supplementary Planning Guidance:
South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 – Section 7 Plots and Buildings
Watlington Conservation Area Character Appraisal 2011 (WCACA 2011)

Page 70



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 23 November 2016

5.5 National Planning Policy Framework
National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance
The policies within the SOCS and the SOLP 2011 of relevance to this application are 
considered to be in general conformity with the provisions of the NPPF and therefore 
this application can be determined against the relevant policies above.

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The planning issues that are relevant to this application are whether the development 

would:
 be in accordance with the Council’s strategy for housing development in rural 

areas;
 result in the loss of an open space or view of public, environmental or ecological 

value;
 preserve or enhance the character and appearance of the Watlington 

Conservation Area and maintain the setting of the nearby listed buildings;
 safeguard the living conditions of neighbouring residential occupiers and would 

provide adequate living conditions for future occupiers of the development;
 demonstrate safe and convenient access and adequate off-street parking 

provision for the development; and
 give rise to any other material planning considerations

6.2 Principle of Development
The SOCS classifies Watlington as a “larger village”. Under Policy CSR1, residential 
development on infill sites of unlimited size is acceptable in principle in “larger villages”. 
The supporting text for Policy CSR1 states, “Infill development is defined as the filling of 
a small gap in an otherwise built up frontage, or on other sites within settlements where 
the site is closely surrounded by buildings.” In officers’ opinion, the site is surrounded 
by buildings on four sides. Under these circumstances, officers consider that the 
principle of housing on the site is currently acceptable. Consequently the proposal falls 
to be assessed primarily against the criteria of Policy H4 of the SOLP 2011 for new 
dwellings, which are addressed below.

6.3 Loss of Open Space
Criterion (i) of Policy H4 of the SOLP 2011 requires that an important open space of 
public, environmental or ecological value is not lost, nor an important public view spoilt. 
The site is not accessible to the public and there is no evidence of any protected 
species or habitats on the site. The site can be glimpsed in public views from High 
Street when passing the entrance, however from these vantage points the development 
of the site would be seen in the context of the buildings on either side. There is no 
particular reference to this site in the WCACA. Given these circumstances, it could not 
be said to result in the loss of an important public view. On this basis, the proposal 
would be in compliance with the above criterion.

6.4 Visual Impact
Criterion (ii) of Policy H4 of the SOLP 2011 requires that the design, height, scale and 
materials of the proposed development are in keeping with its surroundings and 
criterion (iii) requires that the character of the area is not affected. The SOCS Policy 
CSEN3 seeks to preserve or enhance the District's designated heritage assets, 
including conservation areas and listed buildings. The SOLP 2011 Policy CON5 sets 
out the Council’s statutory duty to protect the setting of listed buildings. The SOLP 2011 
Policy CON7 sets out the Council’s statutory duty to ensure that development would 
preserve or enhance conservation areas.

Page 71



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 23 November 2016

6.5 The Council’s Conservation Officer has raised no objection to the position or design of 
the proposed dwelling, concluding that it would not be unduly prominent and would 
preserve the character and appearance of the Watlington Conservation Area and would 
not detract from the setting of the listed frontage buildings. The commercial buildings on 
either side and to the rear are utilitarian in appearance and the proposed dwelling 
would be a more visually attractive building. It would have traditional proportions and 
external finishes could be secured that would match the local vernacular. In the light of 
the above assessment, the proposal would satisfy the above policies.

6.6 Residential Amenity Impact
Criterion (iv) of Policy H4 of the SOLP 2011 requires that there are no overriding 
amenity objections. Policy D4 of the SOLP 2011 requires that all new dwellings should 
be designed and laid out so as to secure a reasonable degree of privacy for the 
occupiers. The main impact of the proposed dwelling would be on the rear aspect of the 
residential occupiers of the upper floors of No.14. The first floor windows of the 
proposed dwelling would be about 14 metres from the rear facing upper floor windows 
of No.14, which would be significantly less than the 25 metre standard set out in 
Section 7 of the SODG 2016. However, one of these windows would serve an en-suite 
shower and the other would serve a corridor into a bedroom and would therefore be 
secondary to the north-east facing window serving the main bedroom area. 
Consequently, both of these windows could be subject to an obscure glazing condition 
to protect neighbouring privacy of the rear facing rooms and small garden area whilst 
also ensuring adequate daylight for future occupiers. The orientation of the proposed 
dwelling to the north of No.14 and its modest ridge height of around 6 metres would be 
sufficient to prevent any discernible loss of light or outlook to the adjoining occupiers.

6.7 The relationship of the proposed dwelling with the rear of No.12, which also appears to 
have a residential use on upper floors, would be more oblique and views towards No.12 
from the aforementioned first floor windows would be blocked by the position of the 
front gable element of the proposed dwelling. Officers deem that a planning condition is 
necessary to remove permitted development rights for any additional windows from 
being inserted in the first floor of the south-west elevation, particularly the front gable, to 
prevent future loss of privacy from taking place. The proposed garden area would be 85 
square metres. This would be below the 100 square metre standard set out in Section 7 
of the SODG 2016. However, this would be an acceptable shortfall, because the 
dwelling would be located in the centre of the village with good access to public open 
space. On the basis of the above assessment, the proposed development would 
accord with the above policies.

6.8 Access and Parking
Criterion (iv) of Policy H4 of the SOLP 2011 also requires that there are no overriding 
highway objections. The Highway Liaison Officer (HLO) and Watlington Parish Council 
have both objected to the application on highway and pedestrian safety grounds due to 
intensification of use of an access with substandard visibility. For many years the 
access has been used as a car park by Barclays Bank (No.16) for 2 members of staff 
and a parking space has been more recently created for the residential occupiers of 
No.14. The applicant has explained that since 2008, further cars have parked there 
blocking in the staff cars with no turning circle. In spite of the HLO’s objection, officers 
consider that the proposal would not increase the number of parking spaces and would 
widen the turning area to allow this to occur within the site, even when all three parking 
spaces are occupied. The three parking spaces shown on the plan could be allocated 
to specific properties (a combination of No.14, No.16 and the proposed dwelling) and 
this could be secured through a planning condition. The site is in a sustainable location 
within the village centre, with good access to public transport and there is a lack of 

Page 72



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 23 November 2016

dedicated parking for other residential units along High Street.

6.9 Under these circumstances, officers consider that it would not be reasonable to insist 
on the maximum standard of two parking spaces for the proposed dwelling, therefore a 
single parking space for the proposed dwelling would be acceptable. In the absence of 
a garage for the proposed dwelling, a planning condition requiring a cycle store to be 
provided prior to occupation and thereafter retained for this purpose is also considered 
reasonable in order to make travel by bicycle more convenient for future occupiers to 
further reduce the reliance on private vehicles. As No’s 14 and 16 are within the 
applicant’s control, it is likely that the staff associated with these businesses would be 
aware of the allocated parking and they would not attempt to park additional vehicles in 
that area. The HLO has confirmed that he has no objections to the displacement of a 
parking space available for No.16 by the parking space to be allocated to the proposed 
dwelling. This is because the site is within 120 metres of the public car park. Having 
regard to the presence of double-yellow lines on High Street, any customers carrying 
out business in the village centre by car, are likely to have parked in the nearby public 
car park when visiting the ground floor businesses at No’s 14 and 16 (albeit that No.16 
is currently vacant). The applicant has also agreed to a planning condition to install 
signage at No.16 to indicate that the parking area is private and not available to 
customers. 

6.10 Taking into account the above factors, officers consider that the number of vehicles 
accessing the parking area at the rear of the premises would not be any greater than is 
possible at present. In our view, the reverse manoeuvring scenario that the HLO is 
concerned about would be an unlikely occurrence and the risk to highway and 
pedestrian safety would not be severe as required by Paragraph 32 of the NPPF in 
order to justify refusal of planning permission. In the light of this assessment, the 
proposal would comply with the above criterion.

6.11 Other Material Planning Considerations
Matters relating to refuse and recycling collection could be dealt with by a planning 
condition. Officers consider that a planning condition to remove permitted development 
rights for extensions and outbuildings is necessary in order to enable the Council to 
retain control over any future development that might otherwise be harmful to the 
historic environment or neighbouring amenity. Officers are also mindful that the Council 
cannot currently demonstrate a deliverable 5 year supply of housing. Although the site 
lies within and adjacent to Designated Heritage Assets, the proposal has been found to 
preserve the character and appearance of the conservation area and not to detract 
from the setting of listed buildings. Consequently, the relevant test at Paragraph 14 of 
the NPPF can be applied, which is approving development proposals that accord with 
the development plan without delay. This lends further support to the proposal.

6.12 The proposed dwelling is liable for the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). The CIL 
charge applied to new residential development in this case is £150 per square metre of 
additional floorspace (Zone 1). 15% of the CIL payment would go Watlington Parish 
Council in the absence of an adopted Neighbourhood Plan.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 The application proposal would comply with the other relevant Development Plan 

Policies, Supplementary Planning Guidance and Government Guidance and it is 
considered that, subject to the attached conditions, the proposed development would 
be acceptable in principle and would preserve the character and appearance of the 
conservation area and not detract from the setting of listed buildings or the living 
conditions of nearby residents or result in conditions prejudicial to highway safety.

Page 73



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 23 November 2016

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 To grant planning permission subject to the following conditions:

1. Commencement of development within three years. 
2. Development to proceed in accordance with approved plans.
3. Details of levels prior to commencement.
4. Schedule of materials prior to commencement.
5. Obscure glazing of south-west facing first floor windows.
6. No additional openings in south-west facing first floor elevation.
7. Withdrawal of permitted development rights for extensions and 

outbuildings.
8. Details of refuse and recycling collection point prior to commencement.
9. Allocated parking and manoeuvring areas retained as shown on plan.
10. Details of cycle parking facilities prior to commencement.
11. Details of signage prior to commencement.
12. Details of hard and soft landscaping prior to commencement.

Author:         Paul Lucas
Email:           Planning@southandvale.gov.uk
Telephone:  01235 422600

Page 74

mailto:Planning@southandvale.gov.uk


Printed on 05/08/2016 15:55:03
   for BCP

This map is reproduced from Ordance Survey material with the
permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her
Majesty's Stationery Office Crown copyright. Unauthorised
reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to
prosecution or civil proceedings
South Oxfordshire District Council / 100018668 / 2016

Reference:P16/S2638/FUL

Appendix 1

Page 75

Agenda Item 9



Appendix 2

Page 76



Page 77



P
age 78



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 23 November 2016

APPLICATION NO. P16/S1140/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 11.4.2016
PARISH PISHILL
WARD MEMBER Anna Badcock
APPLICANT Everport Developments Ltd
SITE Longwood, Maidensgrove, RG9 6HA
PROPOSAL Proposed demolition of existing dwelling house and 

associated structures and the erection of three 
detached dwellings and detached garages with 
separate access arrangements. (As amended by 
plans received 24_08_2016 to reduce bulk, massing 
and appearance of dwellings).

AMENDMENTS Yes
GRID REFERENCE 472384/188838
OFFICER Marc Pullen

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 This application is referred to the Planning Committee because the officer’s

recommendation conflicts with the view of the Parish Council.

1.2 Longwood is a bungalow which falls within a spacious site. It is part of a residential 
area accessed via a no through road, which extends out from the heart of the 
Maidensgrove settlement and is considered to fall within the settlement limits. 

1.3 The site (which is shown on the OS extract attached as Appendix A) lies within the 
Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). To the rear of the site is 
Pishillbury Woods which are designated as an ancient woodland. 

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 This application seeks full planning permission for the erection of three detached two 

storey dwellings on site, following the demolition of the existing bungalow. The 
dwellings would be served by individual accesses, two of which would be new.  

2.2 A copy of all the current plans accompanying the application is attached as Appendix 
B. Other documentation associated with the application can be viewed on the council’s 
website, www.southoxon.gov.uk.

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Pishill with Stonor Parish Council – Object

 Three dwellings would be an overdevelopment of the plot


Forestry Officer (South Oxfordshire District Council) - No strong views, subject to 
condition

Highways Liaison Officer (Oxfordshire County Council) - No strong views, subject to 
condition

Countryside Officer (South Oxfordshire & Vale of White Horse) - No strong views, 
subject to informative 

Page 79

Agenda Item 10

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S1140/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 23 November 2016

Woodland Trust – Object based on close proximity to ancient woodland

Countryside Access - No strong views, subject to informative

Waste Management Officer (District Council) - No strong views
 
Neighbours - Object (7)

 New access, in close proximity to existing neighbours accesses could cause 
potentially hazardous situations for vehicles accessing/leaving their properties

 The track serving the new development ‘will not cope’ with the additional traffic – 
the track is maintained by the residents and has recently undergone 
improvement works. New properties would increase the ‘wear and tear’ of the 
track – increasing maintenance costs – the financial implications of the 
maintenance of the track is not a material planning consideration 

 The track would have to cope with additional deliveries (gas, waste, food etc.) 
and is prone to flood – causing problems with new owners

 No transport, no shops, no gas, no street lights and internet access 
 Little parking, which cannot support the residents and visitors 
 No room for street parking
 Impact on the navigation and movement of wildlife 
 Development is excessive for this plot
 Impact on the character of the AONB
 Uniformity of garden sizes is not in keeping with the surrounding area
 Properties proposed at not in keeping with the layout of houses in the 

surrounding area
 Views spoilt for neighbours – this is not a material planning consideration 
 Gardens across the road and the front aspect of adjacent neighbours would be 

overlooked – loss of privacy
 An increase in noise (both by new residents and construction process)
 Minimal screening and privacy protection of the new inhabitants caused by 

hedging
 An increased height of building(s) on site would provide views across the road, 

to the detriment of neighbours
 The loss of trees previously will open up views across to neighbours and 

increase harm 
 The concern of setting a precedent 
 No demand for these houses in this location

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P15/S1300/HH - Approved (19/06/2015)

Erection of two storey front and side extensions and raise the roof to facilitate first floor 
accommodation.  Erection of a single storey extension to the garage.

P82/S0277/O - Refused (22/07/1982) - Refused on appeal (07/12/1982)
ERECTION OF ONE DETACHED BUNGALOW AND GARAGE.

P61/H0290 - Approved (24/05/1961)
Erection of one detached dwelling house with garages and widening of existing access

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 National Planning Policy Framework & National Planning Practice Guidance

5.2 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) 2012 policies; 
CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development

Page 80

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P15/S1300/HH
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P82/S0277/O
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P61/H0290


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 23 November 2016

CSB1  -  Conservation and improvement of biodiversity
CSEN1  -  Landscape protection
CSQ3  -  Design
CSR1  -  Housing in villages
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy

5.3 South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) 2011 policies; 
C4  -  Landscape setting of settlements
C8  -  Adverse affect on protected species
C9  -  Loss of landscape features
D1  -  Principles of good design
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
D10  -  Waste Management
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
H4  -  Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt
R8  -  Protection of existing public right of way
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

5.4 South Oxfordshire Design Guide (SODG) 2016

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1  Principle of development

 Impact on character and appearance of area
 Impact on the wider Chilterns AONB
 Impact on neighbour amenity
 Impact on highway 
 Impact on ecology and trees 
 Other matters

Principle of development
6.2 The site lies within Maidensgrove and in this location the principle of residential 

development on the site is largely governed by Policy CSR1 of the South Oxfordshire 
Core Strategy (SOCS), which allows new housing on suitable infill sites, on sites 
approximately 0.1 hectares in size. The SOCS defines infill as the filling of a small gap 
in an otherwise built up frontage or on other sites within settlements where the site is 
closely surrounded by buildings. This site is within a cluster of other residential 
dwellings and in my view, it is reasonable to conclude that the site is within the confines 
of the village of Maidensgrove. The site measures around 0.4ha and so it would be 
above the usual threshold of 0.1ha in ‘other villages’. 

6.3 In order to strictly comply with the 0.1ha limit, the application should replace the existing 
dwelling within the plot and then come back with two further applications for new 
dwellings either side within the site area threshold. This would be a contrived and 
drawn out way of achieving a desired development that could come forward under one 
application.  In officer’s opinion it would be a more pragmatic approach to apply for this 
development under a single planning application therefore. 

6.4 In light of the above assessment officers consider it reasonable to agree that this 
development represents infill development within the settlement as it would fill a gap in 
the settlement and would, when completed, be closely surrounded by neighbouring 
built form. It is therefore necessary to assess the implications of the development 

Page 81



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 23 November 2016

having regard to Policy H4 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP). 

Impact on character and appearance 
6.5 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) confirms a presumption in favour of 

sustainable residential development, but also confirms a requirement for good design. 
The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) elaborates on the NPPF, stating that: 
“new development should look to respond appropriately to the existing layout of 
buildings, streets and spaces…there may be an existing prevailing layout that 
development should respond to and potentially improve” (Para 24).

6.6 The village is rural in character owing to its designation within the Chilterns AONB and 
is relatively linear in plan form, within a loose knit structure.  To the rear of the site is an 
ancient woodland, Pishillbury Woods.  The properties in the vicinity of the site vary in 
architectural merit and vernacular quality and in the wider settlement the properties vary 
in size with a variety of plot sizes and property heights and overall the surrounding built 
form contributes to the spacious and rural character of the area.  The property to the 
north, Barns Cottage, is Grade II listed and dates back to the early C17. 

6.7 The proposed dwellings would keep to the linear form of built form in this part of the 
village and would have relatively spacious rear gardens and front gardens and 
driveways. Whilst this development would introduce two additional dwellings on this 
plot, the design and layout of the scheme does, in officer’s view, successfully ensure 
that the individual properties respect the spacious character of the area by providing 
good spacing and large plot sizes. This, in officer’s view, would help conserve the rural 
character of the village. The density of the development proposed would respect the 
density of the surrounding built form.  

6.8 The appearance of the dwellings vary and attempts to respect the varied architectural 
character of the immediate area and the overall village. Officers consider the 
appearance of the dwellings are acceptable and that the use of architectural features 
and traditional materials would be sympathetic to the surrounding area and the wider 
Chilterns AONB. The heights of the dwellings are similar to each other but owing to the 
topography of the site would allow for a gentle slope of the development from west to 
east. In addition to this, due to the set-back position of the dwellings they would be on a 
lower ground level than the unadopted highway, reducing the overall visual impact of 
the development from views outside of the site. Whilst it is appreciated that the existing 
property is shallow in height and offers no immediate view from the public realm, it is 
considered that views of built form on the site would not materially harm the character 
of the site or the surrounding area. This area is residential in use and there are a 
number of other properties, due to their siting and positioning along the unadopted 
highway, which are considerably more prominent in the immediate area. 

6.9 A number of trees will need to be removed to accommodate the development and a 
number of trees have previously been removed prior to this application. However it is 
officer’s view that the rural and sylvan character and appearance of the area would not 
be materially harmed by this development as views towards the woodland to the rear of 
the site would still be obtainable and trees on site are proposed to be retained, as well 
as the ‘green’ boundary treatments. 

Impact on the Chilterns AONB 
6.10 As the site lies within the Chilterns AONB, the development falls to be considered by 

Policy CSEN1 of the SOCS and national guidance set out within section 11 of the 
NPPF. The NPPF stipulates that great weight should be given to the conservation of 
the landscape and scenic beauty of the AONB (para 115). Policy CSEN1 seeks to 
protect the district’s distinctive landscape character and key features from any 

Page 82



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 23 November 2016

inappropriate development. High priority is given to the conservation and enhancement 
of the Chilterns AONB. In addition the development would need to be assessed against 
Policy C4 of the SOLP which seeks to protect the attractive landscape settings of 
settlements.  

6.11 The South Oxfordshire Landscape Assessment (SOLA) identifies this area as falling 
within the Chilterns Ridges and Valleys. The site lies within a large area of wooded 
dipslope which is the dominant landscape type within this area. The general pattern of 
built form which is characteristic of this area is linear with a number of individual 
buildings, small hamlets and small villages. The scenic quality of the area is high with a 
strong sense of space. Visual sensitivity is low and this area has a moderate sensitivity 
to change. The management strategy for this area is to conserve. 

6.12 Officers consider that the development is well contained within the settlement limits and 
is bounded by other residential dwellings and ancient woodland to the rear. Views of 
the proposal would be minimal from within the immediate area and there are no far 
reaching views of the site from the wider Chilterns AONB.  Officers do not consider that 
this development would compromise or harm the landscape qualities of the AONB. It is 
officer’s view that the site makes a limited contribution to the intrinsic rural character of 
the area and owing to its enclosed nature does not contribute significantly to the overall 
visual and landscape quality of this part of the Chilterns AONB. Instead officers 
consider that the proposed development would be sympathetic to the area and would 
respect and conserve the character and landscape/scenic qualities of this area, which 
makes it worthy of its inclusion within the Chilterns AONB. The use of materials used in 
the construction of the dwellings would be conditioned to ensure that the development 
respects the local vernacular. 

Impact on neighbour amenity
6.13 The Council’s policies and guidance seek to ensure that new dwellings are considerate 

to neighbours by way of ensuring that the development does not intrude upon a 
neighbour’s privacy, does not overshadow, obstruct daylight or have an oppressive or 
overbearing impact, which would be harmful to the amenity of occupiers living in 
neighbouring properties. 

6.14 A number of neighbours have objected to this planning application. Neighbours have 
raised concern that their views would be harmed by the proposed increase in built form 
on the site. A loss of a private view is not a material planning consideration however, 
and therefore the impact upon neighbours should not be determined taking into account 
this concern. Despite this, and subject to details agreed by condition, officers do not 
consider the views of the surrounding landscape and the views to the frontage of the 
site would be materially harmed by the development of this site. 

6.15 Concerns have been raised regarding the increased height of dwellings on this site and 
the potential impact caused on neighbours privacy and that the potential loss of 
vegetation on site and to the front of the site would harm amenity. Officers note that no 
side facing windows are proposed which would overlook those neighbours to the north-
east or south-west. 

6.16 The distances between the frontage of the proposed properties and those properties 
adjacent to the site, Barns Cottage, its annexe and Chestnut Cottage, exceed 30 
metres which would sufficiently safeguard the privacy of those neighbours. The advised 
distance between the frontages of two dwellings within the South Oxfordshire Design 
Guide (SODG) is 10 metres. The level of overlooking would not be untypical of an area 
of residential built form such as this and due to the existing vegetation on site these 
views would be somewhat screened and would only provide oblique views towards 

Page 83



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 23 November 2016

neighbours’ gardens when vegetation thins. Owing to the siting of the proposed 
dwellings no direct views into neighbours habitable rooms/windows would be possible. 
All side facing windows proposed on the three dwellings would serve bathrooms – a 
condition is recommended to ensure these are obscure glazed or fixed shut below 1.7 
metres internally. 

6.17 One neighbour has raised a concern regarding the noise caused by the additional 
residents along the road and during the construction process. Officers do not consider 
however that the additional noise caused by new residents should be considered as a 
reasonable reason to refuse this development. Within an area such as this where 
dwellings are closely located to each other it is considered reasonable to expect some 
level of noise to arise by residents using their homes and whilst enjoying their private 
gardens. The construction noise would be temporary. 

6.18 The siting of the proposed dwellings in relation to neighbouring properties would allow 
for sufficient spacing with neighbouring Park Gate and Fallow Woods and would keep 
to the linear form along the road. Officers do not consider the development would be 
overbearing to these neighbours and would not result in any adverse loss of light. It is 
noted that a section of hedging between Park Gate and plot 1 would be removed. 
However it is intended to replace this and this can be controlled by the attached 
landscaping condition. 

6.19 A further concern was raised by the adjacent neighbour, siting harm to their listed 
building(s). Officers consider that the re-development of the land does not erode the 
special interest of the listed buildings. Whilst the site is in the immediate setting of the 
listed building; its special interest as a C17 timber frame building would not be harmed. 
The annexe building would be considered curtilage listed and it makes a contribution to 
the special interest of the main listed building. There will be some visual alteration to 
the character of the application site, however this is not considered to harm the special 
interest of the listed building or its wider curtilage. When viewed from the public realm, 
the listed buildings and proposed new dwellings are not likely to be read in conjunction 
with each other. Regardless, it is not considered that these new dwellings would cause 
any diminution of the historic interest and value of these buildings. 

Impact on highway 
6.20 The council’s policies and guidance seek to ensure that in determining planning 

applications, the council should, in consultation with the local highway authority, ensure 
that new developments are designed to a standard that ensures a safe and attractive 
environment and does not result in an unacceptable level of traffic on the local highway 
network or have a detrimental impact on the amenities and environment of the area. 

6.21 The local highway authority has raised no objection to this application, subject to 
conditions requiring details of the visibility splays to the new accesses, details of the 
turning and parking areas within each plot and the submission of a construction traffic 
management plan to mitigate the impact of construction vehicles on the surrounding 
highway network, road infrastructure and local residents. Other conditions seek for the 
new vehicle accesses to be constructed and laid out in accordance with the local 
highway authority’s specifications, a restriction on the conversion of the proposed 
garages and a specification that requires all new gates to be set back from the 
carriageway by at least 5m to ensure the road is not obstructed whilst cars wait to enter 
the site. 

Page 84



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 23 November 2016

Impact on ecology and trees
6.22 In consultation with both the forestry and countryside officer no objection has been 

raised having regard to the impact on landscape quality and features and protected 
species. 

6.23 The existing structure is in a good condition with few obvious access to the roof void or 
opportunities for crevice dwelling bat species. The site exists within close proximity to 
Pishillbury Wood, a fragment of ancient woodland which most likely supports a healthy 
population of bats. The council’s countryside officer has no objection to the proposed 
development, following an amendment which moved the dwelling in plot 3 further away 
from the woodland. An informative would be attached to the decision notice if granted 
planning permission to bring attention to the applicant/developer to have regard to the 
requirements of UK and European legislation related to the protection of certain wild 
plants and animals. Approval under that legislation will be required and a licence may 
be necessary if bats are affected by the development. 

6.24 The trees within this site are not protected by a tree preservation order and the site is 
not located within a conservation area. The applicant has submitted an Arboricultural 
and Planning Integration Report and Tree Protection Plan. The forestry officer raises no 
objections to the proposed development subject to the decision notice making specific 
reference for the need to implement tree protection as set out in the submitted 
Arboricultural and Planning Integration Report and Tree Protection Plan. A landscape 
condition is also recommended to ensure that the development is assimilated into the 
rural character of the area and soft and hard landscaping details of the development 
can be controlled by the council to avoid any inappropriate forms of landscaping that 
could lead to harm on the rural character of the site or the Chilterns AONB. 

6.25 It is noted that to the rear of the site is the Pishillbury Wood which is classified as an 
ancient woodland. The Woodlands Trust has raised a concern to the proposed 
development citing the potential impact on the ancient woodland. They are concerned 
that the development could damage the ancient woodland and the adjacent habitat 
both by construction processes and by the resultant dwellings on site. Following 
amendments to the scheme and the attached conditions, the Countryside Officer and 
Forestry Officer do not object to the development, having regard to the proximity to the 
ancient woodland. The landscaping scheme will help to secure a small amount of 
understory woodland edge planting within the gardens along the southern boundary. 
This will improve the woodlands edge structure, species such as hazel, holly, hawthorn, 
yew etc. are likely to be appropriate. In addition the removal of permitted development 
rights will allow for the council to control the erection of future extensions and 
outbuildings in conjunction with this woodland. 

6.26 Additional conditions are recommended which require details to be submitted for 
surface water drainage and foul drainage works. Informatives are attached which 
provides advice to safeguard the public footpath which runs adjacent to this site and to 
advise the developers of further action needed should protected wildlife be affected by 
the development. 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
6.27 The council’s CIL charging schedule has recently been adopted and will apply to 

relevant proposals from 1 April 2016. CIL is a planning charge that local authorities can 
implement to help deliver infrastructure and to support the development of their area, 
and is primarily calculated on the increase in footprint created as a result of the 
development. In this case CIL is liable for the new dwellings and is charged on floor 
area, offset with the loss of the existing building. The CIL charge applied to new 
residential development in this case is £150 per square metre of floorspace (Zone 1). 

Page 85



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 23 November 2016

15% of the CIL payment will go directly to the parish council (as they do not have an 
adopted Neighbourhood Plan) for spending towards local projects. 

7.0 CONCLUSION
The proposal complies with the relevant Development Plan Policies and, subject to the 
attached conditions would not be harmful to the character and appearance of the site 
and surrounding area, the local highway network or the amenities of those occupants 
living in neighbouring properties.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 To grant planning permission subject to the following conditions: 

1. Full planning permission – development to commence within three years 
of date of permission.

2. Development to be carried out in accordance with approved plans. 
3. A schedule of all materials to be used in the external construction and 

finishes of the development hereby permitted shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority.

4. Tree protection in accordance with the submitted details.
5. Hard and soft landscaping scheme to be submitted to and approved in 

writing by the local planning authority. 
6. Details of existing and proposed levels to be submitted to and approved in 

writing by the local planning authority. 
7. Vision splay details to be submitted to and approved in writing by the 

local planning authority. 
8. New vehicular access to be formed, laid out and constructed in 

accordance with local highway authority specifications.
9. Parking and manoeuvring areas to be implemented in accordance with 

plans and retained for their use. 
10. All gates to be set back at least 5 metres from the carriageway.
11. No conversion of garage accommodation.
12. Construction management plan to be submitted to and approved in writing 

by the local planning authority. 
13. Withdrawal of permitted development rights for extensions and 

outbuildings.
14. Obscure glazing to first floor side facing windows.
15. Details of foul and surface drainage to be submitted to and approved in 

writing by the local planning authority.

Author: Marc Pullen
Contact No: 01235 422600
Email: planning@southoxon.gov.uk 

Page 86

mailto:planning@southoxon.gov.uk


Appendix A

Page 87

Agenda Item 10

PullenM_1
Rectangle



Appendix B

P
age 88



P
age 89



P
age 90

PullenM_2
Polyline



P
age 91

PullenM_3
Polyline



P
age 92

PullenM_4
Polyline



P
age 93



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 23 November 2016

APPLICATION NO. P16/S2923/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 6.9.2016
PARISH ROTHERFIELD PEPPARD
WARD MEMBERS David Nimmo-Smith & Charles Bailey
APPLICANT Mr Stark
SITE Daisy's at the Dog Peppard Common, RG9 5JU
PROPOSAL Change of use of property from A3 to C3 and 

associated extension and alterations.
AMENDMENTS None
GRID REFERENCE 471030/181950
OFFICER Marc Pullen

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 Daisy’s at the Dog is a two storey building, currently in lawful use as a coffee shop. 

1.2 The site (which is shown on the OS extract attached as Appendix A) lies within the 
Rotherfield Peppard Conservation Area and Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty (AONB).

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 This application seeks full planning permission for the conversion and alteration of the 

existing coffee shop to form a new dwelling.  

2.2 A copy of all the current plans accompanying the application is attached as Appendix 
B. Other documentation associated with the application can be viewed on the council’s 
website, www.southoxon.gov.uk.

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Rotherfield Peppard Parish Council – Object

 Loss of brick and flint wall to the front would be detrimental to the character of 
the area and the historical importance

 Harm that the proposed access and small manoeuvring area would have on the 
proposed new walkway planned for school children (in connection with the 
development to re-locate the school to the north) 

 Alternative siting of the proposed access would be off Dog Lane as currently 
there is an area of poor quality fencing, the loss of which would not be harmful

Conservation Officer - No strong views

Highways Liaison Officer (Oxfordshire County Council) – Originally objected, 
however, this objection has now been removed following submission of the visiblity 
splay drawing

Forestry Officer - No strong views

Countryside Access - No strong views

County Archaeological Services (SODC) - No strong views

Page 95

Agenda Item 11

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S2923/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 23 November 2016

Foundation Governor of Peppard CoE Primary School – Concern
 Not opposing change of use of this building but concerned about access and 

small manoeuvring area associated with development and possible impact on 
safety of children and other motorists accessing and leaving school. 

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P16/S0052/FUL – Approved (27/04/2016) 

Demolition of existing outbuildings and erection of two-storey 3-bedroom dwelling. 

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 National Planning Policy Framework & National Planning Practice Guidance

5.2 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy policies; 
CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSB1  -  Conservation and improvement of biodiversity
CSEN1  -  Landscape protection
CSEN3  -  Historic environment
CSQ3  -  Design
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy

5.3 South Oxfordshire Local Plan policies; 
C8  -  Adverse affect on protected species
C9  -  Loss of landscape features
CF1  -  Protection of recreational or essential community facilities
CON5  -  Setting of listed building
CON6  -  Demolition in conservation area
CON7  -  Proposals in a conservation area
D1  -  Principles of good design
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
D10  -  Waste Management
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
H4  -  Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt
R8  -  Protection of existing public right of way
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

5.4 South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The main planning considerations in the determination of this application are

 the principle of conversion
 the impact on the character and appearance of the site
 the impact on the amenity of neighbours 
 the highway implications
 the impacts on trees 

Principle of conversion to residential 
6.2 The existing lawful use of the property is as a coffee shop however the building has 

been vacant since the beginning of 2015. The proposal seeks to convert the building 
into a single dwelling. The principle of converting the building into residential use falls 
within the scope of Policy CF1 and H4 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP). 

Page 96

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P16/S0052/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 23 November 2016

6.3 Policy CF1 seeks to protect essential community facilities or services.  A community 
facility or service may be ‘essential’, either because it is one of a limited number of that 
nature in a settlement or area, or is fundamental to the quality and convenience of 
everyday life in a settlement. Policy CF1 of the SOLP allows for change of use and 
redevelopment of such facilities and services where suitable provision is made for the 
facility on site or elsewhere in the locality, or where a commercial service is 
demonstrated as not economically viable.  

6.4 Officers consider that whilst this building previously provided a service to the local 
community, its loss within the village and immediate surrounding areas would not 
prevent residents from meeting their day-to-day needs and requirements. The provision 
of hot food and drink would not be lost within the village as similar facilities exist nearby; 
the Red Lion pub. It is considered that the loss of the service in this instance can be 
offset by the service provided by the Red Lion. Therefore officers consider that this 
building does not provide an ‘essential’ facility or service as alternative provision is 
available and therefore the provisions of Policy CF1 are not engaged.  

Impact on character and appearance
6.5 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) confirms a presumption in favour of 

sustainable residential development, but also confirms a requirement for good design. 
The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG, 2014) elaborates on the NPPF, 
stating that: “new development should look to respond appropriately to the existing 
layout of buildings, streets and spaces…there may be an existing prevailing layout that 
development should respond to and potentially improve” (Para 24). 
 

6.6 The site falls within the Rotherfield Peppard Conservation Area.  The site also lies 
within the Chilterns AONB.  Both site designations require new development to 
conserve and enhance the site for its local character and appearance, respecting its 
historic importance and landscape qualities as set out by Policy CON7 of the SOLP and 
Policies CSEN1 and CSEN3 of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS). 

6.7 Having regard to Criterion (i) of Policy H4 of the SOLP, the site is not currently being 
used for its lawful use. The site is currently occupied by physical built form and 
therefore cannot be regarded as an important open space of public value and neither is 
it a site of importance to public views within the village. The ecological and 
environmental importance of the site is discussed later within this report.  

6.8 Both criteria (ii) and (iii) of Policy H4 of the SOLP seek to ensure that the design, 
height, scale and materials of the proposed development are in keeping with the 
surroundings and that the character of the area is not adversely affected. The main 
body of the dwelling would be retained with the addition of a two storey side extension 
to the north and a hipped roof on top of an existing single storey aspect to the south. 
These additions are designed so as to remain subservient to the main building and 
have been designed so as to draw from the architecture of the existing building. 

6.9 The proposed conversion of the building is not considered to detract from the rural or 
the historic interest of the area and the character of the property would be largely 
retained as existing. The property would be served by adequate parking and private 
amenity space and would keep to the existing building line of the properties along the 
B481, keeping an active frontage to the public realm. The existing wall to the front of 
the site would be partially lost to accommodate the new access. Whilst regrettable to 
lose part of this wall, it would not result in the entire loss of this wall and it would 
continue to retain its historic importance. The harm to the conservation area as a whole 
as a result of the loss of part of this wall would be less than substantial and, in officer’s 

Page 97



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 23 November 2016

view, would be outweighed by the benefit of a viable use of the site and non-designated 
heritage asset in accordance with the NPPF. 

6.10 Criterion (iv) of Policy H4 of the SOLP seeks to ensure that there are no overriding 
amenity, environmental or highway objections caused as a result of new dwellings.  

Impact on neighbour amenity 
6.11 As discussed above, the proposed conversion of the building would mostly keep to the 

existing form of the building. The proposed development would not encroach towards 
the boundaries of the site and would not obstruct daylight or sunlight, to the detriment 
of any neighbours. The views obtained from the new dwelling would not be too 
dissimilar to those currently achieved by the building. Officers note the addition of new 
first floor windows to the north of the site, but these would not directly face onto any 
immediate neighbour. As such the development is considered to have no significant or 
adverse impact on neighbours. 

Highway implications
6.12 The Council’s policies and guidance seek to ensure that in determining planning 

applications, the Council should, in consultation with the local highway authority, ensure 
that new developments are designed to a standard that ensures a safe and attractive 
environment and does not result in an unacceptable level of traffic on the local highway 
network or have a detrimental impact on the amenities and environment of the area.

6.13 The local highways authority originally objected but has since removed their objection 
to the proposed development following the submission of a plan showing adequate 
pedestrian visibility splays. Given the characteristics of the carriageway fronting the 
site, vehicular traffic and speeds are likely to be low. In light of the local highway 
authority’s comments, the development is considered to comply with Policy T1 and T2 
of the SOLP and guidance within the NPPF. 

Impact on trees
6.14 The trees within this site are not protected by a tree preservation order. The site is 

located within a conservation area. The applicant has submitted an arboricultural report 
with this application. The proposed development will require the removal of a Lawson 
Cypress which is shown in the submitted tree survey as T2. This tree is of low 
arboricultural value and should therefore not be considered as a constraint to the 
proposed development. The forestry officer therefore has no objections to the proposed 
development subject to the decision notice making specific reference for the need to 
implement tree protection as set out in the submitted arboricultural method statement 
and tree protection plan. 

Other matters 
6.15 The site is located in an area of archaeological interest however the development is of 

a relatively small scale and as such there are no archaeological constraints to this 
scheme. 

6.16 Primrose Cottage lies to the north-east of the site and is Grade II listed. It is not 
considered however that the conversion or the extension to the application property 
would compromise the setting or the historic importance of the neighbouring Grade II 
listed building. Views of this property are currently obscured from the public realm by 
the application property and views are only possible from Dog Lane and to some extent 
from within the garden of the application site. Whilst an important contributor to the 
historic character of the Conservation Area, it is not considered that Primrose Cottage 
contributes to the wider (visual) landscape of the area and given its secluded location in 
relation to the proposed site it is officer’s opinion that the presence of this proposed 

Page 98



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 23 November 2016

new dwelling would unlikely harm its setting when viewed from the public realm.  As 
such the development is not considered to harm the setting of this listed building and 
therefore complies with Policy CON5 of the SOLP. 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
6.17 The council’s CIL charging schedule has recently been adopted and has applied to 

relevant proposals since 1 April 2016. CIL is a planning charge that local authorities 
can implement to help deliver infrastructure and to support the development of their 
area, and is primarily calculated on the increase in footprint created as a result of the 
development. In this case CIL would be liable for any net increase in internal floor 
space as there would be a net gain of new residential use. The CIL charge applied to 
new residential development in this case is £150 per square metre of floor space (Zone 
1). Of that, 15% of the payment should go directly to Rotherfield Peppard Parish 
Council (as they do not have a made Neighbourhood Plan) for spending towards local 
projects. 

7.0 CONCLUSION
The proposal complies with the relevant Development Plan Policies and, subject to the 
attached conditions would not be harmful to the character and appearance of the site 
and surrounding area, the local highway network or the amenities of those occupants 
living in neighbouring properties. 

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 To grant planning permission subject to the following conditions: 

1 :   Full Planning Permission – development to commence within 3 years of date 
       of permission
2 :   Development to be carried out in accordance with approved plans 
3 :   A schedule of all materials to be used in the external construction and 
       finishes of the development hereby permitted shall be submitted to and 
       approved in writing by the LPA
4 :   Foul drainage works details required to be submitted to the LPA prior to 
       occupation
5 :   Details of all boundary walls & fences to be submitted to LPA prior to 
       commencement
6 :   Vision splay details measuring 2m by 2m shall be provided to each side of 
       access prior to occupation of development
7 :   New vehicular access to be formed, laid out and constructed in accordance 
       with local highway authority specifications
8 :   Parking & Manoeuvring Areas to be implemented in accordance with plans 
       and retained for their use 
9 :   All new windows and doors should be timber in construction. 
10 : Tree protection in accordance with the submitted details

Author: Marc Pullen
Contact No: 01235 422600
Email: planning@southoxon.gov.uk 

Page 99

mailto:planning@southoxon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A

Page 101

Agenda Item 11

PullenM_5
Rectangle



Appendix B

P
age 102



P
age 103



P
age 104



P
age 105



ST02

ST03

101.54

101.68

101.80

101.66

101.14

101.78

101.99

101.61

101.58

101.53

GG

101.15

1

0

1

.

3

3

1

0

1

.

6

2

1

0

1

.

7

3

101.65

101.65

101.65

101.74

Tac

101.71

101.86

101.96

C

/

L

 

0

.

7

h

102.04

102.52

102.07

SI

101.94

101.99

W

a

l

l

 

0

.

7

h

102.05

101.88

101.94

Skip

101.83
101.80

101.95

DP

DP

102.67

R

L

 

1

0

8

.

5

9

R

L

 

1

0

4

.

0

9

E

L

 

1

0

6

.

1

3

UKs 11h

Pine 10h

101.44

101.32

101.03

100.81

101.05

101.40

101.59

SV

102.54

E

L

 

1

0

5

.

3

8

E

L

 

1

0

5

.

5

9

R

L

 

1

0

7

.

3

1

101.29

101.44

101.46

101.28

CL 101.53

IC

101.40

P

i

c

k

e

t

 

1

.

5

h

DR

101.62

101.70

101.61

101.41

101.47

101.60

101.57

101.61

101.61

Paved

101.63

101.61

101.35

CL 101.47

MH

101.52

Metal cover

DR

FL 101.49

CL 101.45

IC

101.45

101.43

Brick

101.34

101.22

101.06

Tank

CL 101.15

MH

101.18

101.16

DP

101.64

101.59

E

L

 

1

0

3

.

7

0

E

L

 

1

0

3

.

3

8

E

L

 

1

0

5

.

2

4

R

L

 

1

0

8

.

9

4

CL 101.59

IC

O
H

L

Grass

C

/

B

 

1

.

8

h

CL 100.95

IC

Ramp Up

P

i

c

k

e

t

 

1

.

5

h

Paved

S

t

o

n

e

 

w

a

l

l

 

1

.

5

h

Conc

Asphalt / gravel

Asphalt

Conc

Paved

Gravel

Gravel

Panel 1.8h

UK 12h

Paved

Grass

Grass

Paved

C

a

n

o

p

y

C

a

n

o

p

y

Grass

Grass

Grass

Grass

Step Up

UTL

R

L

 

1

0

4

.

3

7

The Dog

Brick building

UK 12h

Vegetation 8h

UTL

IL 100.70

0.15Ø

T
r
e
l
l
i
s
 
1
.
8
h

UTL

F/bed

11%

30%

30%

11%

11%

94%

15%

ST02

ST03

101.54

101.68

101.80

101.66

101.14

101.78

101.99

101.61

101.58

101.53

GG

101.15

1

0

1

.

3

3

1

0

1

.

6

2

1

0

1

.

7

3

101.65

101.65

101.65

101.74

Tac

101.71

101.86

101.96

C

/

L

 

0

.

7

h

102.04

102.65

102.52

102.07

SI

101.94

101.99

W

a

l

l

 

0

.

7

h

102.05

101.88

101.94

Skip

101.83
101.80

101.95

DP

DP

102.67

R

L

 

1

0

8

.

5

9

R

L

 

1

0

4

.

0

9

E

L

 

1

0

6

.

1

3

UKs 11h

Pine 10h

101.32

101.44

101.32

101.03

100.81

101.05

101.40

101.59

SV

102.54

E

L

 

1

0

5

.

3

8

E

L

 

1

0

5

.

5

9

R

L

 

1

0

7

.

3

1

101.29

101.44

101.46

101.28

CL 101.53

IC

101.40

P

i

c

k

e

t

 

1

.

5

h

DR

101.62

101.70

101.61

101.41

101.47

101.60

101.57

101.61

101.61

Paved

101.63

101.61

101.35

CL 101.47

MH

101.52

Metal cover

DR

FL 101.49

CL 101.45

IC

101.45

101.43

Brick

101.34

101.22

101.06

Tank

CL 101.15

MH

101.18

101.16

DP

101.59

E

L

 

1

0

3

.

3

8

E

L

 

1

0

5

.

2

4

R

L

 

1

0

8

.

9

4

CL 101.59

IC

O
H

L

Grass

C

/

B

 

1

.

8

h

CL 100.95

IC

Ramp Up

P

i

c

k

e

t

 

1

.

5

h

Paved

S

t

o

n

e

 

w

a

l

l

 

1

.

5

h

Conc

Asphalt / gravel

Asphalt

Conc

Paved

Gravel

Gravel

Panel 1.8h

UK 12h

Paved

Grass

Grass

Paved

C

a

n

o

p

y

C

a

n

o

p

y

Grass

Grass

Grass

Grass

Step Up

UTL

R

L

 

1

0

4

.

3

7

The Dog

Brick building

Vegetation 8h

UTL

IL 100.70

0.15Ø

T
r
e
l
l
i
s
 
1
.
8
h

UTL

F/bed

Reproduced from Ordnance Survey material by permission

of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her

Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown copyright.

Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and

may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Connect

Consultants Ltd Licence number: 100046781

project

client
title

drawing number

cad filescale

date

rev.

drawn by checked by

A3

78 BROAD STREET, CHIPPING SODBURY, BRISTOL. BS37 6AG

Tel: 01454 320 220 Web: www.connect-consultants.com

Fax: 01454 320 099 Email:bristol@connect-consultants.com

QUALITY MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

ISO 9001 : 2008 FS 594947

LINEA HOMES

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT

PEPPARD COMMON

DOG LANE

PEDESTRIAN VISIBILITY AT ACCESS T.A.S H.A.F
OCTOBER 2016

1:150 15161 - SK161005.1

15161 - SK161005.1

2 X 2M PEDESTRIAN VISION SPLAY

VEGETATION TO BE

KEPT BELOW 0.6M

VEGETATION TO BE

KEPT BELOW 0.6M

P
age 106



P
age 107



P
age 108



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 23 November 2016

APPLICATION NO. P16/S2646/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 11.8.2016
PARISH SONNING COMMON
WARD MEMBERS Will Hall

Paul Harrison
APPLICANT Hazelwood Estates
SITE 2 Baskerville Road,Sonning Common, RG4 9LS
PROPOSAL Erection of a detached two-storey 4-bedroom 

dwelling with integral garage and formation of 
vehicular access.

AMENDMENTS As amended by plans received 30 September 2016 
showing ground floor layout altered to relocate the 
ground floor w.c. in order that the garage could be 
enlarged to comply with the standard size 6.0m x 
3.0m for garages, with the addition of a side door to 
the garage. On 10 October 2016 a vision splay plan 
was submitted following Highways holding objection.

GRID REFERENCE 470596/180482
OFFICER Davina Sarac

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 This application is referred to the Planning Committee because the officer’s

recommendation conflicts with the view of Sonning Common Parish Council

1.2 The application site (which is shown on the OS extract attached at Appendix A) is 
located within a residential area of Sonning Common. The site currently forms part of 
the residential curtilage of 2 Baskerville Road which has a total site area of 0.10 
hectares. 2 Baskerville Road is a two-storey detached red brick dwelling with an 
attached double garage located on the junction of Baskerville Road and Woodlands 
Road. The dwelling faces onto Baskerville Road. The site does not fall within any 
areas of special designation.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 Planning permission is sought for the erection of a two storey, four bedroom, detached

dwelling with an integral garage, parking provision and the creation of a new vehicular 
access onto Woodlands Road.

2.2 The proposed dwelling would have a pyramid hip roof with a small gable section facing 
towards the front the property. The walls of the new dwelling would be finished in facing 
brickwork and render. The roof would be tiled in plain tiles. The dwelling would have 
standard windows and bi-fold doors on the rear elevation. 

2.3 A copy of the plans accompanying the application is attached as Appendix B.
Other documentation associated with the application, including the Design and Access
Statement and visibility splay plan, can be viewed on the council’s website, 
www.southoxon.gov.uk 

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Sonning Common Parish Council – Object:

• The application is clearly contrary to many of the policies within the Sonning Common 

Page 109

Agenda Item 12

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S2646/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 23 November 2016

Neighbourhood Plan. The Plan should bear significant weight in determining this 
application.

3.2 Highways Liaison Officer (Oxfordshire County Council) – Placed a holding objection 
intinially, followed by no objection subject to conditions relating to the access, parking, 
and implementation of vision splays.

3.3 Thames Water Development Control - No objections subject to infomative.

3.4 Waste Management Officer (District Council) - No strong views.

3.5 Forestry Officer (South Oxfordshire District Council) - No objections subject to a 
landscaping scheme to help screen the development. 

3.6 Nineteen representations have been received from neighbours objecting to the 
proposed development. The main concerns raised are:
• Overlooking and loss of privacy
• Overbearing
• Overdevelopment, cramped on plot
• Impact on character of area (dwelling, parking area and loss of front hedge)
• Highway safety being located close to junction
• Traffic generation
• Contrary to Neighbourhood Plan
• Smaller houses needed not large ones
• Garden grabbing

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P95/S0735 - Approved (23/05/1996)

Demolition of No. 25 Woodlands Road.  Erection of 3 detached dwellings with garages 
and accesses.  Additional garage for No. 2 Baskerville Road. (As amended by drawing 
nos: 927/03C and 04C and accompanying letter from agent dated 17 April 1996 and 
amplified by letter from applicant dated 15 May 1996 and corrected by drawing received 
on 23 May 1996).

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance

5.2 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) 2027
CS1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSS1 - The Overall Strategy
CSR1 - Housing in villages
CSQ3 - Design
CSQ2 - Sustainable design and construction

5.3 South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) 2011 saved policies
D1 - Principles of good design
D2 - Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3 - Outdoor amenity area
D4 - Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
D10  -  Waste Management
G2 - Protect district from adverse development
G3  -  Development well served by facilities and transport
H4 - Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt
T1 - Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users

Page 110

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P95/S0735


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 23 November 2016

T2 - Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users
C9  -  Loss of landscape features
EP6  -  Sustainable drainage

5.4 South Oxfordshire Design Guide (SODG) 2016
Section 7 – Buildings and Plots

5.5 Sonning Common Neighbourhood Development Plan (SCNDP)
H3  – Infill
D1  – Design
D1a – Design – storeys
D1b  – Design on allocated and infill sites

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The main issues to be considered are:

1. The principle of new housing development;
2. Whether the development would result in the loss of an open space or view of 

public, environmental or ecological value;
3. Whether the design, height, scale and materials of the development would be in 

keeping with the character and appearance of the surrounding area;
4. Whether the development would result in harmful impact to neighbouring 

residential amenity;
5. Whether the development would result in an unacceptable harm to highway 

safety;
6. Other material considerations 

Principle of development
6.2 Policy CSR1 of the Core Strategy (SOCS) identifies the areas throughout the district 

where new housing will be allowed in principle.  The site is located within the built up 
limits of Sonning Common, which is classed as a ‘larger village’ under policy CSR1 of 
the SOCS.  Policy CSR1 allows for infill development within larger villages. Infill 
development is defined in the SOCS as the filling of a small gap in an otherwise built-up 
frontage or on other sites within settlements where the site is closely surrounded by 
buildings. This is also echoed in Policy H3 of the Sonning Common Neighbourhood 
Development Plan (SCNDP). 

6.3 The site forms part of the residential garden of 2 Baskerville Road and is closely 
surrounded by other buildings, with 25 Woodlands Road adjoining the north west 
boundary of the site and the rear garden of 2A Baskerville Road adjoining the south 
west of the boundary. In officers’ opinion this site falls within the definition of an infill 
plot. As such, the principle of erecting a dwelling on the site is therefore acceptable.  
The proposal therefore falls to be assessed against the criteria of saved Policy H4 of 
the Local Plan (SOLP) and Policy H3 of the SCNDP.  Policy H4 supports new housing 
in villages, subject to a number of environmental and amenity considerations, which are 
addressed below. 

Loss of Open Space
6.4 Criterion (i) of saved Policy H4 of the SOLP requires that an important open space of 

public, environmental or ecological value is not lost, nor an important public view spoilt. 
The application site does not constitute an important open space of public, 
environmental or ecological value, nor an area from which there is an important public
view. This criterion would therefore be satisfied.

Impact on character and appearance

Page 111



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 23 November 2016

6.5 Criteria (ii) and (iii) of Policy H4 of the SOLP seek to ensure that the design, height, 
scale and materials of the proposed development are in keeping with its surroundings 
and the character of the area is not adversely affected. These requirements are also 
outlined within Policy H3 of the SCNDP.  The new dwelling would front Woodlands 
Road. Woodlands Road contains a variety of house designs, mostly detached and 
semi-detached, typically with small front gardens and boundary hedges, providing an 
attractive suburban character. The size of the rectangular building plot would 
adequately accommodate the dwelling proposed in keeping with the prevailing spacing 
and density of housing in this area. The layout proposed would reflect the spacing of 
dwellings further north west along Woodlands Road. The hipped roof and front-facing 
gable would differ from the end-gabled houses of 25 and 27 Woodlands Road, 
however, the development would observe their building line. 

6.6 The ridge and eaves height of the roof of the proposed dwelling would match the ridge 
and eaves heights of 2 Baskerville Road and be marginally higher than 25 and 27 
Woodlands Road immediately to the north west. However, the height is not considered 
to be out of character when viewed within the context of the varied street scene. The 
footprint and mass of the dwelling would also reflect other properties in the surrounding 
area and roof heights. The design of the dwelling is considered to be in keeping with 
the area. Developing the rear garden of 2 Baskerville Road would require removing 
some of the hedgerow fronting Woodlands Road to provide a vehicle access to the site 
and parking within the site. However, these changes would not harm the appearance of 
the street scene. In my view, the house to plot ratio would reflect the overall grain of 
development in this area and not make the proposal appear cramped. The use of 
brickwork and render for the external elevations and plain tiles for the roof would be in 
keeping with the character of the area. For the reasons explained, I consider, that on 
balance, that the proposed development would not harm the character and appearance 
the site, the street scene or the surrounding area. Consequently, the proposal would 
meet the design aims of SOCS policies CSR1 and CSQ3, SOLP policies D1, G2 and 
H4 and SCNDP policies H3, D1, D1a and D1b.

Impact upon neighbouring properties
6.7 Criterion (iv) of Policy H4 of the SOLP and Policy H3 of the SCNDP require that there 

are no overriding amenity objections. Criterion (v) of Policy H4 explains that if the 
proposal constitutes backland development, it should not create problems of privacy or 
access. Concerns have been raised by the occupiers of neighbouring properties that 
the proposed dwelling would be overbearing on, create a loss of sunlight to gardens 
and would affect the privacy of, neighbouring properties.

6.8 The proposal would provide first floor rear bedroom windows facing the rear garden of 
2A Baskerville Road. However, the back garden would be 10 metres in length which is 
the recommended back to boundary distance within the SODG. It is also a length 
similar to those gardens on the north west side and their relationship with the gardens 
of Appletree Close. The rear garden of the new dwelling would give enough separation 
between these bedroom windows and the bungalow at 2A Baskerville to avoid any 
adverse impact on privacy.

6.9 The new dwelling would be located 1.1 metres from the north west boundary and 1.2 
metres from the south east boundary. The side walls of the proposed dwelling would be 
12.4 metres away from the rear of 2 Baskerville Road and 2.4 metres from the side 
elevation of 25 Woodlands Road. The rear bedroom windows of the dwelling would 
overlook the garden areas of the adjacent properties, however, it is a common situation 
in suburban areas to have a private rear garden overlooked by upstairs windows of 
neighbouring properties and the proposal would not create significant harm to justify 
refusal of planning permission. 

Page 112



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 23 November 2016

  
6.10 The dwelling would include two first floor side facing windows. One would face 25 

Woodlands Road and the other towards 2 Baskerville Road. These windows would be a 
bathroom and en-suite. A condition could ensure that these windows are fitted and 
retained with obscure-glazing to prevent views out. It is considered that through this, 
and the separation between the existing and proposed properties, overlooking and loss 
of privacy would not be significant.

6.11 The new dwelling would be located to the south east of 25 Woodlands Road and would 
result in some overshadowing of the rear garden to that property. Again, this would be 
similar to the relationship between 25 and 27 Woodlands Road and given the gaps 
between the dwellings, it is considered that it would not be of a significant overbearing 
nature to warrant refusal. This would preserve the satisfactory living conditions of 
neighbouring residents to satisfy SOLP policies D4 and H4 and SCNDP policy H3.

Impact on the highway
6.12 Criterion (iv) of Policy H4 of the SOLP also requires that there are no overriding 

highway objections. Concerns over parking and highway safety have been raised. The 
Highways Officer has assessed the proposal and initially placed a holding objection as 
the integral garage did not meet the standard size of 6.0 metres in length by 3.0 metres 
wide.  The application was also not accompanied by pedestrian or vehicle vision splays. 
Amended plans were received showing the internal floor plan rearranged in order that 
the garage could meet the standard size. Vision and pedestrian splays were also 
submitted. The Highways Officer has raised no objection to the proposed dwelling 
following the amended plans subject to conditions. 

6.13 The Highways Officer has assessed the proposal and determined that the vehicle 
movements associated with the proposal do not present severe harm as required in the 
recent Government guidelines within the National Planning Policy Framework to 
warrant a recommendation for refusal. The site layout plans shows that there is 
adequate parking available for a property of this size on the site. On the basis of this 
assessment, the proposed development would meet the above criteria.

Other material planning considerations
6.14 Policy D10 requires the provision of waste collection facilities and space for refuse and 

recycling collection for the new dwelling. This has not been demonstrated on submitted 
plans. However, this aspect could be secured through planning conditions.

6.15 Concerns have been raised by neighbours and the Parish Council about the impact of 
the loss of the boundary hedge and the proposed layout of the parking area on the
character of the street scene and surrounding area. Whilst the loss of the hedge is
regrettable, its removal does not require planning consent; it could be removed at any
time. The Council’s forestry officer has assessed the proposal and raised no objections 
to development as it will not impact on any trees with high amenity value or high 
arboricultural value. The layout of the proposed parking area and new access is 
considered to be in keeping with the character of the area. A landscaping condition will 
be imposed in order to ensure some planting is carried out to help soften the proposed 
development.

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
6.16 This application is liable for CIL at the rate of £150 per square metre. 

Page 113



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 23 November 2016

7.0 CONCLUSION
The proposal represents an appropriate infill development within a settlement where the 
principle of additional residential development is acceptable.  The proposed dwelling 
would be of an appropriate design and would be of a scale suitable to the size of the 
plot.  The development would not detract from the character and appearance of the 
site, would not be unneighbourly and would not result in conditions prejudicial to 
highway safety.  As such, and subject to the recommended conditions, the application 
complies with the relevant Development Plan policies.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 To grant planning permission subject to the following conditions:

1. Commencement of development within three years. 
2. Development to be carried out in accordance with the approved plans. 
3. Schedule of materials to be agreed prior to the commencement of 

development.
4. Hard and soft landscape details to be agreed prior to the commencement 

of the development.
5. Obscure glazing to side first floor windows.
6. New vehicular access to be constructed in accordance with the approved 

plans.
7. Vision splays to be carried out in accordance with approved plans.
8. Turning area and car parking to be carried out in accordance with the 

approved plans.
9. The garage shall not be converted into living accommodation.
10. Refuse and recycling details to be submitted to prior to commencement.

Author: Davina Sarac
Contact No: 01235 422600
Email: planning@southoxon.gov.uk 

Page 114

mailto:planning@southoxon.gov.uk


Appendix A

Page 115

Agenda Item 12



Appendix B

P
age 116



P
age 117



P
age 118



P
age 119



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	Minutes
	South planning minutes - 19 October 2016
	Minutes

	South planning minutes - 2 November 2016
	Minutes


	7 Hawkhill Place, Stanton St John
	P16/S1850/FUL - Hawkhill Place, Stanton St John - Appendices
	1 Appemdix 1
	2 Site Layout Plan Proposed & Existing drwgno S14B
	2a Elevations Existing drwgno S18
	2b South Elevation Proposed drwgno S10
	2c Elevations East & West Proposed drwgno S15 Rev A
	2d Ground Floor Plan Proposed drwgno S8
	2e First Floor Plan Proposed drwgno S9
	3 Profile Overlay drwgno S30
	3a Profile Overlay drwgno S31


	8 1 Sandy Lane, Cholsey
	P16/S2045/FUL - 1 Sandy Lane, Cholsey - Appendices
	Appendix A
	Appendix B.1
	Appendix B.2
	Appendix B.3
	Appendix B.4
	Appendix B.5
	Appendix B.6
	Appendix B.7
	Appendix B.8
	Appendix B.9


	9 Land to the rear of 14 and 16 High Street, Watlington
	P16/S2638/FUL - Land to the rear of 14 and 16 High Street, Watlington - Appendices
	1a GIS Extract
	2 Site Location Plan drwgno 01A
	2a 2016255 04E Site Plan
	2b Proposed Floor and Elevation Plan drwgno 05A


	10 Longwood, Maidensgrove
	P16/S1140/FUL - Longwood, Maidensgrove - Appendices
	Appendix A
	Appendix B.1
	Appendix B.2
	Appendix B.3
	Appendix B.4
	Appendix B.5
	Appendix B.6


	11 Daisy's at the Dog, Peppard Common
	P16/S2923/FUL - Daisy's at the Dog, Peppard Common - Appendices
	Appendix A
	Appendix B.1
	Appendix B.2
	Appendix B.3
	Appendix B.4
	Appendix B.5
	Appendix B.6
	Appendix B.7


	12 2 Baskerville Road, Sonning Common
	P16/S2646/FUL - 2 Baskerville Road, Sonning Common - Appendices
	1 Appendix A Location plan drwgno LOC 01
	2 Appendix B Site Plan drwgno 1144 1A
	2a Appendix BFloor and Elevations drwgno 144 2A
	2b Appendix B Roof and Elevations drwgno 1144 3A
	2c Appendix B Vision Splays drwgno 1144 10





